Warrenton Planning Commission

AGENDA
July 9, 2020 |1 6 PM | City Hall - Commission
Chambers
Attendance
Flag Salute

Public Comment Period on Non-Agenda ltems

Approval of minutes of May 14, 2020
«  Action Item: Motion to Adopt

PUBLIC HEARING: Development Code Amendment | Commercial Corridor Design Standards

* Applicant: City of Warrenton | Community Development Director

* Proposal: Amend Section 16.116 and Section 16.36 of the Development Code to
improve architectural design standards for commercial development and remove
garages as a requirement of new multifamily dwellings, respectively.

» Action Item: Recommendation to City Commission for consideration

PUBLIC HEARING: Conditional Use Permit, Site Design Review & Variance | Osburn Plumbing

» Applicant: Ryan Osburn, Osburn Plumbing

* Proposal: Construct new contractor shop, warehouse, and office with private street
access to SE Dolphin Ave

* Action Item: Recommendation to approve with conditions
Staff Announcements & Project Updates

Next Meeting: August 13, 2020



Kevin A. Cronin, AICP

Assistant City Manager/Community Development Director

City of Warrenton, Oregon

250 S. Main St.

Warrenton, Oregon 97146

Dear Mr. Cronin:

The following is a response to the Pre-Application Note Letter of March 5, 2020:

1.

The applications for Conditional Use, Site Design Review and Variance for the Osburn project at
2219 SE Dolphin Avenue are hereby submitted for review.

Assite plan developed by A.M.Engineering is included, showing calculations for building area,
landscaped area, parking.

The engineering plans and report illustrates how the development dovetails with Memory Care.
There is a landscaped buffer adjacent to US 101 shown on the site plan. The building will not
exceed 45 feet.

The street improvements are shown on the site plan. A variance is requested to the street and
lane or alley standards.

Thermoplastic crosswalks will be designed and installed. A new sidewalk is shown.

The engineering and preliminary drainage report addresses 16.192.

The landscaping is shown on the site plan, and exceeds the required 20%.

Vehicle and bicycle parking is addressed on the site plan.

- A traffic analysis by Lancaster Engineering is attached to the Conditional Use application.

. Solid waste facilities locations are shown on the site plan.

- No temporary construction trailer is proposed at this time.

. The fees in the amount of $3,000 for conditional use, site design and variance are submitted.

Please let me know if any additional information is needed.

Best wishes,

N e~

Mike Morgan

Planning Consultant




July 2, 2020

TO:  Warrenton Planning Commission

FROM: Mark Barnes, Interim Planning Director

RE: Osburn Plumbing Site Design Review (SDR20-04); Conditional Use (CUP20-01); and
Variance (V20-01)

Background

Ryan Osburn proposes a total of 39,500 square feet of commercial building space on a vacant
4.47 acre site on the west side of SE Dolphin Avenue, in the General Commerical (C1) zone.
Three applications are before the Planning Commission:

e Conditional Use Permit for office and warehouse space for Osburn Plumbing and
Osburn-Olsen Land Development for 30,000 square feet of building space. Additional
users for the remaining 9,500 square feet are not yet identified and are not a part of this
application.

e Site Design Review for a development covering more than two acres and including more
than 10,000 square feet of floor area.

e A variance to the City’s street design standards to allow a 24-foot wide access drive.

Staff Recommendations

Conditional use permit: Approval with conditions
Site Design Review: Approval

Variance: Approval

Development Process & Review Timeline

Application materials were submitted on May 29, 2020; and determined to be complete on
June 15, 2020. Affected agency notice was emailed on June 25, 2020. Nearby property-owner
notification was mailed 20 days prior to the hearing date. Notice was published in the Columbia
Press on June 16, 2020. No comments have been received as of the date of this staff report.

Existing Conditions

The subject property is immediately north and west of Clatsop Memory Care. It is currently
vacant. The site has frontage on Highway 101 and on SE Dolphin Avenue. All access will be via
SE Dolphin. Clatsop Memory Care and the proposed development will share a common
driveway, already constructed, in a 27-foot wide easement. The subject property also adjoins
Medix Ambulance Service to the south; and single-family residences to the north.

Applicable Criteria

The proposal is subject to the following Warrenton Development Code zoning and design
standards and requirements:

« Conditional Use Standards (16.220)

+ -1 General Commercial Development Standards (16.40.040)

« (-1 General Commercial Design Standards (16.40.050)




SDR20-04/CUP20-01/V20-01
Page 2

» Design Standards: Access & Circulation (16.120)

« Design Standards: Landscaping, Street Trees, Fences, and Walls (16.124)
= Design Standards: Vehicle & Bicycle Parking (16.128)

«  Public Facilities Standards (16.136)

«  Stormwater & Surface Water Management Standards (16.140)

«  Site Design Review Application & Review Procedures (16.212)

« Large Scale Development (16.192)

= Variance criteria (16.272)

These criteria and standards are excerpted below.

WMC 16.220 | CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT

Conditional use review criteria excerpted below are from WMC 16.220.030, followed by staff
findings. The applicant also provided written findings dated May 27, 2020, included in the
application materials.

The proposed use is in conformance with the Comprehensive Plan. (WMC
16.220.030.A.1)

The Comprehensive Plan provides a broad policy framework for development in the C-1 Zone.
This policy framework is implemented through the zoning ordinance, zoning map, and other
regulations. The applicant cites several comprehensive plan policies in their findings addressing
this criterion. Staff recommends that the Planning Commission find the proposal in
conformance with the City’s Comprehensive Plan.

The location, size, design and operating characteristics of the proposed use are such that
the development will be compatible with, and have a minimal impact on, surrounding
properties. (WMC 16.220.030.A.2)

Staff agrees with the applicant’s findings. The site is in a commercially-zoned area. Single-family
residences to the north are in the C1 zone. They are buffered from the proposed use by
landscaping and by topography on the subject property. Operating characteristics as proposed
are similar to other commercial developments located in the vicinity along SE Dolphin Avenue.
Road access will be via an existing private drive to SE Dolphin Avenue. This existing driveway
has been sufficient for Clatsop Memory Care’s use, and it was designed and approved with the
understanding that it would support additional development on the site. A variance to allow a
24-foot wide driveway for the subject development has been requested. If the proposed
variance is approved, the Planning Commission can find that the location, size, design and
operating characteristics of the proposed use are such that the development will be compatible
with, and have a minimal impact on, surrounding properties.



SDR20-04/CUP20-01/V20-01
Page 3

The use will not generate excessive traffic, when compared to traffic generated by uses
permitted outright, and adjacent streets have the capacity to accommodate the traffic
generated. (WMC 16.220.030.A.3)

A traffic impact study was prepared by the applicant, a copy is included with the application
material. The report concluded that traffic safety mitigation was not needed or recommended;
that site distance requirements were met or could be met with pruning of vegetation; that no
safety issues based on road or access geometry were present; that crosswalks as proposed
were sufficient to meet pedestrian needs; that no specific bicycle mitigation measures (such as
additional bike lanes or bike paths) were necessary; and that no specific mitigation measure
related to public transit were needed or recommended. Based on this, the Planning
Commission can find that the proposed uses will not generate excessive traffic; and that
adjacent streets have the capacity to accommodate the traffic generated without any
mitigation measures other than those included on the applicant’s site plan.

Public facilities and services are adequate to accommodate the proposed use. (WMC
16.220.030.A.4)

Municipal water and sewer service at the site are sufficient to meet the proposed use’s needs
without exceeding the City’s capacity to provide these services. The applicant provided a
stormwater report prepared by A.M. Engineering, dated 5/22/20. Under this proposal,
stormwater would be conveyed to an existing ditch in the Highway 101 right-of-way, and then
to the Skipanon River. Based on this, the Planning Commission can determine that the proposal
meets public facilities and services are adequate to accommodate the proposed use.

The site’s physical characteristics, in terms of topography, soils and other pertinent
considerations, are appropriate for the use. (WMC 16.220.030.A.5)

The site is generally level and dry. Site topography is shown on Sheet C4 of the applicant’ site
plan. A preliminary stormwater report was prepared at the applicant’s expense and is included
with the application materials. Paved and impervious areas will create additional drainage
needs, but the applicant’s engineer states that the proposed stormwater conveyance can
accommodate these needs. The proposed type of construction can be supported by the site if a
proper foundation can be designed. The adjoining Clatsop Memory Care facility is built on
similar soils and site conditions without extraordinary measures. Based on this, the Planning
Commission can find that the site’s physical characteristics, in terms of topography, soils and
other pertinent considerations, are appropriate for the use.

The site has an adequate area to accommodate the proposed use. The site layout has
been designed to provide for appropriate access points, on-site drives, public areas,



SDR20-04/CUP20-01/v20-01
Page 4

loading areas, storage facilities, setbacks and buffers, utilities or other facilities which
are required by City ordinances or desired by the applicant. (WMC 16.220.030.A.6)

There subject property covers more than 4 acres. Based on the proposed site development
plan, the property is large enough to accommodate the proposed buildings, parking, vehicle
circulation areas, setbacks, utilities, and landscaping. For these reasons the Planning
Commission can find the proposal consistent with conditional use criterion A.6.

The use is appropriate at the proposed location. Several factors which should be
considered in determining whether or not the use is appropriate include: accessibility for
users (such as customers and employees); availability of similar existing uses; availability
of other appropriately zoned sites; and the desirability of other suitably zoned sites for
the intended use. (WMC 16.220.030.A.7)

The proposed location on SE Dolphin Avenue is appropriate for the proposed use. The site and
surrounding lands are in the City’s General Commercial zone. Nearby commercial uses include
Clatsop Memory Care, Oregon State Police, Medix Ambulance Services, Pacific Corp, ODOT
Maintenance, and a mini-storage facility. These are not retail storefront commercial uses, such
as are found at Youngs Bay Plaza, for example. Instead, surrounding commercial uses along SE
Dolphin Avenue are service providers. The two users identified for this proposal — Osburn
Plumbing and Osburn-Olsen Land Development —are service providers. The proposed uses do
not require a high-visibility site more appropriate for retail merchants like Walmart, Fred
Meyer, Costco, or Home Depot. Based on this, the Planning Commission can find the proposal
consistent with conditional use criterion A.7.

WMC 16.40.040 | C1 Zone Development Standards.

A. Density Provisions.

4.  Maximum building height: 45 feet.
5. Commercial uses, maximum lot coverage: none.

The applicant submitted building elevations with this request. Proposed roof ridgetops are 33
feet above grade.

B. Setback Requirements.

1. Minimum front yard setback, commercial uses: none except where adjoining a
residential zone, in which case it shall be 15 feet. See Section 16.40.050 for maximum
front yard setback for commercial uses.



SDR20-04/CUP20-01/V20-01
Page 5

2 Minimum side and rear yard setbacks, commercial uses: none except where
adjoining a residential zone in which case there shall be a visual buffer strip of at least
10 feet wide to provide a dense evergreen landscape buffer which attains a mature
height of at least eight feet. Such buffers must conform to the standards in Chapter
16.124, Landscaping, Street Trees, Fences and Walls.

There are no minimum setbacks for commercial uses in the C1 zone. The proposed site plan
incorporates setbacks and buffers from the Clatsop Memory Care facility and from residences
to the north.

WMC 16.40.050 | C1 Zone Design Standards.

A. Any commercial development shall comply with Chapter 16.116 of the Development
Code.

B. Lots fronting onto U.S. Highway 101 shall have a setback of at least 50 feet between
any part of the proposed building and the nearest right-of-way line of U.S. Highway 101.

C. Signsin General Commercial Districts along Fort Stevens Highway/State Highway 104
(i.e., S. Main Avenue, N. Main Avenue, NW Warrenton Drive, and Pacific Drive) shall comply
with the special sign standards of Section 16.144.040.

D. Maximum front yard setback for commercial buildings in the C-1 zone along Fort
Stevens Highway/State Highway 104 shall be 10 feet.

E.  Maximum front yard setback for commercial buildings in the C- 1 zone adjacent to
existing or planned transit stops shall be 10 feet.

Buildings shown on the proposed site plan meets the fifty-foot setback from Highway 101. The
proposed site plan does not include any signage. A sign permit will be reviewed at a later date.
Setbacks are addressed above. Other standards are not applicable. Standard is met.

WMC 16.40.060 | C1 Zone Other Applicable Standards.

A, Outside sales and service areas shall be approved by the Warrenton Planning
Commission if not enclosed by suitable vegetation, fencing or walls.

B. Outside storage areas shall be enclosed by suitable vegetation, fencing or walls, in
conformance with Chapter 16.124.

C. All uses shall comply with access and parking standards in Chapters 16.116 and 16.128
except as may be permitted by conditional use or variance.

D. Signs shall comply with standards in Chapter 16.144.

E.  All development shall comply with the wetland and riparian area protection standards
of Chapter 16.156.



SDR20-04/CUP20-01/V20-01
Page 6

E. All other applicable Development Code requirements shall also be satisfied.

There are no outside sales areas proposed. An outdoor storage area is shown on the site plan.
The requirement in subsection B, that outside storage areas be enclosed by suitable vegetation,
fencing or walls, can be addressed with an approval condition: Outdoor storage area shall be
surrounded by screening vegetation consistent with WMC 16.124. See proposed conditions of

approval.

WMC 16.120.020 | VEHICULAR ACCESS AND CIRCULATION.

F. Access Options. When vehicle access is required for development (i.e., for off-
street parking, delivery, service, drive-through facilities, etc.), access shall be provided by
one of the following methods (a minimum of 10 feet per lane is required). These methods
are “options” to the developer/subdivider, unless one method is specifically required
under Division 2, or through conditions required by the hearings body.

1. Option 1. Access is from an existing or proposed alley or mid-block lane. Ifa
property has access to an alley or lane, direct access to a public street is not permitted.
2. Option 2. Access is from a private street or driveway connected to an adjoining

property that has direct access to a public street (i.e., “shared driveway”). A public
access easement covering the driveway shall be recorded in this case to assure access to
the closest public street for all users of the private street/drive.

The proposed site plan uses option 2, a driveway shared with Clatsop Memory Care.

8. Loading Area Design. The design of driveways and on-site maneuvering and
loading areas for commercial and industrial developments shall consider the anticipated
storage length for entering and exiting vehicles, in order to prevent vehicles from
backing into the flow of traffic on the public street or causing unsafe conflicts with on-
site circulation.

Loading area design shown on the proposed site plan is under engineering review as of the date
of this staff report.

L. Fire Access and Circulation. The City of Warrenton adopts the Uniform Fire Code, as
amended, including administrative sections and all appendices and all the State of
Oregon revisions. All development in the City of Warrenton is required to meet these
minimum adopted standards.




SDR20-04/CUP20-01/V20-01
Page 7

Fire Department staff reviewed to proposed fire access and circulation and had no comments
or recommended design changes.

5. Parking Areas. Parking areas shall provide adequate aisles or turn-around areas for
service and delivery vehicles so that all vehicles may enter the street in a forward
manner.

Public Works staff and Fire Department staff reviewed the parking area plan and had no
comments or recommended design changes. Planning staff believes proposed aisles and turn-
around areas are sufficient for the proposed use.

M. Vertical Clearances. Driveways, private streets, aisles, turn-around areas and ramps
shall have a minimum vertical clearance of 13 feet 6 inches for their entire length and
width.

It does not appear from the proposed site plan that any architectural or landscape features
would conflict with this standard.

N. Vision Clearance. No signs, structures or vegetation in excess of three feet in height
shall be placed in vision clearance areas. The minimum vision clearance area may be
increased by the Community Development Director, City-appointed engineer, or Planning
Commission upon finding that more sight distance is required (i.e., due to traffic speeds,
roadway alignment, etc.).

There are no materials proposed within the clearance areas at the property line boundary. The
proposed buildings are not within the vision clearance area.

Surface Options. All driveways, parking areas, aisles, and turn-a-rounds in the City of
Warrenton shall be paved with asphalt, concrete, or other comparable surfacing. A
durable non-paving material may be used for driveways and private streets that
serve three or fewer residential dwelling units and in other instances where the need
to reduce surface water runoff and protect water quality can be demonstrated
through adequate findings of fact submitted by the applicant and/or property owner
as part of the development proposal. All paving and non-paving surfaces shall meet
City construction standards and shall be subject to review and approval by the
Community Development Director, City-appointed engineer, and/or Planning
Commission. (WMC 16.120.020.0.1)

All driveways, parking areas, aisles and turn-arounds shown on the proposal are paved.



SDR20-04/CUP20-01/V20-01
Page 8

Surface Water Management. All driveways, parking areas, aisles and turn-a-rounds shall
have on-site collection or infiltration of surface waters to eliminate sheet flow of such
waters onto public rights-of-way and abutting property. Surface water facility plans shall
be prepared by a qualified person and constructed in conformance with City standards.
Such plans shall attempt to follow the principle that water falling on a given site should
be absorbed or retained on-site to the extent that the quantity and rate of water leaving
the site after the development would not be significantly different than if the site had
remained undeveloped. (WMC 16.120.020.0.1)

Proposed driveway and parking area materials are asphalt. A stormwater management plan
was submitted with the application materials. Engineering plans will be required prior to
building plan review. Standard is met.

WMC 16.136.020 | Transportation Standards.

A.  Development Standards. No development shall occur unless the lot or parcel abuts a
public or private street, other than an alley, for at least 25 feet and is in conformance with
the provisions of Chapter 16.120, Access and Circulation, and the following standards are
met:

1. Streets within or adjacent to a development shall be improved in accordance with
the Comprehensive Plan, Transportation System Plan, and the provisions of this
chapter;

2. Development of new streets (public or private), and additional street width or
improvements planned as a portion of an existing street, shall be improved in
accordance with this section, and public streets shall be dedicated to the applicable
City, County or State jurisdiction;

3. New streets and drives connected to a City collector or arterial street shall be
paved; and

4. The City may accept a future improvement guarantee [e.g., owner agrees not to
remonstrate (object) against the formation of a local improvement district in the
future] in lieu of street improvements if one or more of the following conditions exist:

a. A partial improvement may create a potential safety hazard to motorists or
pedestrians,

b. Due to the developed condition of adjacent properties it is unlikely that
street improvements would be extended in the foreseeable future and the
improvement associated with the project under review does not, by itself, provide
increased street safety or capacity, or improved pedestrian circulation,

c. The improvement would be in conflict with an adopted capital improvement
plan, or



SDR20-04/CUP20-01/V20-01
Page 9

d. The improvement is associated with an approved land partition on property
zoned residential and the proposed land partition does not create any new
streets.

The existing public street, SE Dolphin Avenue, the existing driveway, and the proposed new
driveway all meet these requirements, subject to the approval of the proposed road width
variance.

WMC 16.120.030 | Pedestrian Access and Circulation

The proposed site plan indicates that sidewalk, curbing, and gutters along the west side of SE
Dolphin Avenue fronting the property will be provided as a payment in lieu option. This is under
engineering review as of the date of this staff report.

WMC 16.124 | LANDSCAPING, STREET TREES, FENCES AND WALLS

16.124.070 New Landscaping.

B. Landscaping Plan Required. For every new development in the City of Warrenton
requiring a City permit, a landscape plan is required. All landscape plans shall include the
following minimum required details (see Section 16.212.040 for additional landscape
plan requirements for projects requiring site design review)

1. Legal description (e.g., assessor parcel number, copy of warranty deed, etc.) for
the subject property;

2. Property lines with the location and general description (height and type of
material) of existing and proposed fences and other buffering or screening
materials;

3. The location of existing and proposed terraces or retaining walls;

4. The location of existing and proposed plant materials;

5. Wetland and/or riparian area boundaries on the property, if any;

6. Existing and proposed structures;

7. Driveway and adjoining roadway widths, descriptions, and locations; and

8. Prevailing drainage patterns for the property.

9. Other information as deemed appropriate by the Community Development
Director.

10. An arborist’s report may be required for sites with mature trees that are protected
under this chapter and/or Chapter 16.156 of this Code.

The landscape plan submitted by the applicants meets these requirements.




SDR20-04/CUP20-01/V20-01
Page 10

C. Landscape Area Standards. The minimum percentage of required landscaping equals:
. Commercial districts: 15% of the site shall be landscaped according to the
requirements of this section.

According to figures provided on sheet C4 of the applicant’s site plan, the site covers about ‘
194,563 square feet. Proposed new landscaping will cover about 12,622 square feet, or about ‘
6.5 percent of the site. Conserved landscaping covers an additional 76,766 square feet, or ;
about 39.5 percent. As proposed, new landscaped areas plus existing landscaping to be
preserved cover more than 35 percent of the site, thus meeting the coverage standard.

WMC 16.128 | VEHICLE AND BICYCLE PARKING

The proposed site plan includes a total of 44 off-street parking spaces, distributed as follows:

22 standard
17 compact
5 van-accessible

The plan also identifies locations for 10 bicycle parking spots. Proposed buildings cover a total
of 39,500 square feet. The proposed uses are not specifically listed in the off-street parking
table at WMC 16.128.030.A. However, they are similar to some of the listed uses, including:

e General offices not providing customer service — one space per employee on the largest
shift.

e Industrial uses - 1 space per 2 employees on the largest shift or for each 700 sq. ft. of
gross floor area, whichever is less, plus 1 space per company vehicle.

e \Warehouse — 1 space per 1,000 square feet of floor area, plus 1 space per company
vehicle

It is unclear from the application materials how the applicant calculated parking needs. If the
planning Commission determines that the proposed uses are similar to any of the three listed
above, then off-street parking can be calculated based on one (or a combination) of those three

uses.

16.128.040 Bicycle Parking Requirements. A. All uses shall provide bicycle parking
in conformance with the following standards which are evaluated during development
review or site design review.

Two spaces of covered bicycle parking are provided with each of the proposed buildings. Based
on this, the standard can be met.



SDR20-04/CUP20-01/V20-01
Page 11

Chapter 16.140 | STORMWATER AND SURFACE WATER MANAGEMENT

16.140.010 Natural Drainage System Maintained to Extent Feasible.

A. To the extent practicable, all development must conform to the natural contours
of the land and natural and pre-existing man-made drainage ways must remain
undisturbed.

B. To the extent practicable, lot boundaries created by partition or subdivision must
coincide with natural and pre-existing man-made drainage ways to avoid the
creation of lots that can be built upon only by altering such drainage ways.

A natural drainage feature along the northern property boundary drains to the west, to the
Highway 101 right-of-way. This feature is undisturbed by the proposed site development plan.

16.140.020 Developments Must Drain Properly. A. All developments must provide an
adequate drainage system to prevent the undue detention or retention of stormwater or
surface water on the development site.

The applicant has submitted a preliminary stormwater drainage report that is, as of the date of
this staff report, under review.

16.140.030 Surface Water Management. All developments must be constructed and
maintained so that impacts to natural and man-made drainage ways do not
unreasonably burdened upstream or downstream properties with surface water flooding
as a result of the developments.

The applicant has submitted a preliminary stormwater drainage report that is, as of the date of
this staff report, under review.

16.140.040 Erosion and Sediment Control.

B. Erosion and sediment control plans are required by the City as a component of
the site plan for all plats and all projects which require site plan review. Erosion control
plans must be designed to the specifications as outlined in this chapter.

C. Development of the land may not begin (and no building permits may be issued)
until the City-appointed engineer approves the erosion control plan.
D. For purposes of this section, “disturb” means any use of the land by any person in

any development, and/or road construction and maintenance that results in a change in
the natural cover or topography that may cause or contribute to sedimentation.



SDR20-04/CUP20-01/v20-01
Page 12

sedimentation occurs whenever solid particulate matter, mineral or organic, is
transported by water, air, gravity or ice from the site of its origin.

The applicant has not submitted an erosion control plan as of the date of this staff report. This
requirement can be addressed with an approval condition.

Storm sewers constructed within the street will be sized by the developer’s engineer
and will consider all potential runoff requirements within the site and upstream of
the site. (WMC16.140.050.A)

The applicant has submitted a preliminary stormwater drainage report that is, as of the date of
this staff report, under review.

WMC 16.212 | Site Design Review Application and Review Procedures

C. Review Criteria. The Community Development Director shall make written findings
with respect to all of the following criteria when approving, approving with conditions,
or denying an application:

1. The application is complete, as determined in accordance with Chapter 16.208 and
subsection B of this section.

2. The application complies with all of the applicable provisions of the underlying land
use district (Division 2), including building and yard setbacks, lot area and dimensions,
density and floor area, lot coverage, building height, building orientation, architecture,
and other special standards as may be required for certain land uses.

3. The applicant shall be required to upgrade any existing development that does not
comply with the applicable land use district standards, in conformance with Chapter
16.276, Nonconforming Uses and Development.

4. The application complies with the applicable design standards contained in Division
3.

WMC 16.152.060 | Grading Permit Requirements.

A. Permits Required. Except as exempted in Section 16.152.040, no person shall do
any grading without first obtaining a grading permit from the building official. A
separate permit shall be obtained for each site, and may cover both excavations
and fills.




SDR20-04/CUP20-01/V20-01
Page 13

A grading plan and permit can be required as a condition of approval. The proposed site plan
shows areas where grading and filling will be needed. See conditions of approval.

WMC 16.192 | LARGE-SCALE DEVELOPMENTS

A, Large-Scale Development. A development which is:

3. A commercial, industrial, public or institutional development which within two
calendar years will use two or more acres of land or will have buildings with 10,000
square feet or more of floor area.

The proposal is a large-scale development subject to this procedure because the site is larger
than two acres, and because proposed buildings will have more than 10,000 square feet of floor
area.

WMC 16.272 | VARIANCES

The applicant requests a variance to the minimum width standard for his proposed access
drive. Criteria for approval of a variance are in WMC 16.272.020.

A. The hardship was not created by the person requesting the variance;

A. The request is necessary to make reasonable use of the property. There will be an
unreasonable economic impact upon the person requesting the variance if the
request is denied;

B. The request will not substantially be injurious to the neighborhood in which the
property is located. The variance will not result in physical impacts, such as
visual, noise, traffic or increased potential for drainage, erosion and landslide
hazards, beyond those impacts that would typically occur with development in
the subject zone;

C. The request is not in conflict with the Comprehensive Plan;

D. The request is not in conflict with the Development Code. No variance may be
granted which will result in a use not permitted in the applicable zone or which
will increase the allowable residential density in any zone with the exception of
individual lot size reduction; and

E. Physical circumstance(s) related to the property involved preclude conformance
with the standard to be varied.

Criterion A states that the hardship must not have been created by the applicant. “Hardship” is
not defined, but is generally understood to be something that prevents use of the property. The
proposed access to SE Dolphin Lane consists of two parts. An existing private driveway serves



SDR20-04/CUP20-01/V20-01
Page 14

Clatsop Memory Care. Itis 27 feet wide, and was approved with the understanding that it
would serve additional development beyond the Clatsop Memory Care Facility. The second leg
of the access driveway is under review here. As proposed, it is 24 feet wide, consisting of two
paved ten-foot wide travel lanes and two 2-foot wide curb/gutters.

Criterion B states that the variance is needed to make reasonable use of the property.
Economic considerations are valid. The proposed 24-foot wide access lane is sufficient to make
reasonable use of the property. A wider design would increase impervious surface area and
affect stormwater runoff. A wider design might also encourage higher motor vehicle speeds
and on-street parking along this lane, which should not be allowed along this driveway.

Criterion C states that the variance must not be “substantially injurious” to the neighborhood.
There is no evidence that the proposed driveway design is injurious to the neighborhood. The
proposed access relies on a shared driveway, helps minimize impervious surfaces, reduces
average motor vehicle speeds along the access, and eliminates on-street parking along the
accessway. None of these are injurious to the neighborhood.

Criterion D prohibits variances that conflict with the Comprehensive Plan. The zoning
ordinance’s street width standards implement comprehensive plan policies addressing safe and
efficient motor vehicle access to development, and traffic flow and safety on city streets. There
is no evidence that the proposal conflicts with these policy objectives.

Criterion E prohibits use variances; that is, a variance to allow a use that could not otherwise be
permitted. This is not the case here, where the proposed uses are allowed in the C1 zone
without a variance.

Criterion F states that the requested variance must be based on the site’s physical
characteristics. The site’s physical dimensions preclude further development beyond that
proposed on this site plan. The proposed accessway will serve no additional development
beyond that shown on this proposal because the site cannot easily accommodate additional
development.

Based on this, the Planning Commission should find that the proposed variance meets
applicable criteria.

CONCLUSION & RECOMMENDATION

This staff report was prepared prior to engineering review. Off-street parking remains
unresolved. With these caveats, the proposal appears to meet applicable standards and
approval criteria. Staff recommends that the proposed conditional use permit site plan review,
and road standard variance be approved, subject to the following conditions:



SDR20-04/CUP20-01/V20-01

Page 15

1.

On-street parking shall be prohibited along the accessway. No Parking signs and/or curb
painting shall be used to implement this requirement.

Signage is not a part of this approval. Separate sign permits will be required before any
signage is installed.

Outdoor storage area shall be surrounded by screening vegetation consistent with WMC
16.124.

The applicant shall prepare and submit a detailed site grading plan for review and
approval. No grading shall occur prior to the approval of the grading plan and issuance
of a grading permit.

The applicant will provide a revised off-street parking plan that meets the requirements
of WMC 16.128, as modified by any determinations made by the Planning Commission.



June 15, 2020

Ryan Osburn
Osburn Plumbing

Gearhart OR 97108

RE:  Osburn Plumbing Warehouse | Conditional Use Permit & Site Design Review
Application (File: CUP 20-2 & SDR 20-4)

I have reviewed the above application for a Type 3 conditional use and site design review and
find all the required components included based on the pre-application conference notes and
subsequent follow up via email for incomplete items. The application is complete and the City
can initiate the public notice and formal review. However, please recognize that there may be
requests for additional information as we perform the substantive review.

A hearing with the Planning Commission has been scheduled for July 9. Due to the COVID-19
pandemic, the City has a new hearing procedure with video streaming. There is limited seating
for in person attendance.

[ really appreciate the electronic application materials.
Mark Barnes has been hired on a temporary basis and will work with you on this project.

Sincerelyf ) ' . } .
7 i o ‘ﬁwﬂu (hmine
Keyin A. Cronin, AICP

Assistant City Manager/
Community Development Director



NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING

The Warrenton Planning Commission will conduct a public hearing at 6:00 P.M. July 9, 2020 at
the Warrenton City Hall, Commission Chambers to consider Case No. CUP 20-2, SDR 20-4, & VAR
20-1 Conditional Use Permit, Site Design Review, & Variance by Ryan Osburn for a new
contractors office and warehouse. This case will be reviewed under the procedures, standards
and criteria in Warrenton Municipal Code 16.40 General Commercial Zone, Division 3 Design
Standards, 16.220 Conditional Use Permit, 16.212 Site Design Review, & 16.208.050 Type |lI
Procedure (Quasi-Judicial Hearing).

Anyone wishing to testify on this proposal may either attend the public hearing and speak to the
City Commission, or submit written materials, which must be received by the Warrenton
Community and Economic Development Department no later than 5:00 P.M. on the day of the
hearing. Written comments may be mailed to Mark Barnes, Community & Economic
Development Department, P.O. Box 250, Warrenton Oregon, 97146-0250.

Anyone wishing to review and/or purchase copies of the proposed legislation and/or staff report
may do so at Warrenton City Hall, 225 South Main, or may contact Mark Barnes at 503-861-0920
— cityplanner@ci.warrenton.or.us. The staff report will be available for review at no cost at least
seven days before the hearing.

HOW TO PARTICIPATE: All interested persons are invited to submit written comments to Kevin A. Cronin,
Community Development Director, Warrenton City Hall, PO Box 250, Warrenton, OR 97146 by May 7,
2020. Failure to participate in this administrative review in writing or failure to address relevant issues
with sufficient specificity may preclude your right to appeal the administrative decision on this application.

FOR FURTHER _ INFORMATION contact  City of Warrenton at 503.861.0920 or

cityplanner@ci.warrenton.or.us, Monday through Thursday, 8:30 a.m. to noon/1:00 p.m. to 5:00 p.m.
’) ’ A7) / /%\ , / ’

/ Yanwoan 71 /174 / 1 / /

CAL ¢ / 1.9 f«-é VIR NI

6//9 30
Kevin A Cronin, AICP . paTe: /7
Assistant City Manager/Development Director



Janice Weese

From: Kevin Cronin

Sent: Monday, June 15,2020 11:01 AM
To: mike morgan

Cc: Janice Weese

Subject: Re: Osburn Conditional Use
Thanks, Mike

Janice: Please print and add to the file.

| am in contact with Robin and will provide an update as soon as possible.

From: mike morgan <hminc@pacifier.com>

Sent: Monday, June 15, 2020 9:49 AM

To: Kevin Cronin <cityplanner@ci.warrenton.or.us>
Subject: Osburn Conditional Use

Kevin:

Attached is the additional finding you were asking for. Please let me know if there are any additional

requirements. Also, you will be receiving the color samples from Tolovana Architects, hopefully today. Regarding letters
of intent or interest from potential lessees of the other buildings, the speculative properties are not proposed at this
time. The only use of the proposed building is the Osburn Plumbing and Land Development businesses, which are
owned by the applicant. When we apply for site design review for the other buildings, we will be able to provide letters
of interest or leases at that time.

Please let me know if Linda is agreeable with us paying for a consulting planner to evaluate our application.

Mike Morgan



Memorandum

June 15, 2020

To: Kevin Cronin
From: Mike Morgan

Re: Additional Finding Addressing Sec. 16.220.030 Review Criteria Osburn Conditional Use

16.220.030 Review Criteria.

7. The use is appropriate at the proposed location. Several factors

which should be considered in determining whether or not the use is appropriate include: accessibility
for users (such as customers and employees); availability of similar existing uses; availability of other
appropriately zoned sites; and the desirability of other suitably zoned sites for the intended use.

Finding: The use is appropriate at the proposed location. Dolphin Road has been developed over the
last several years as a mixed use commercial neighborhood supporting a wide diversity of uses. These
include the adjacent Clatsop Health Memory Care facility, the Northwest Natural Gas facility, Pacific
Power, the Oregon State Police, and the Warrenton Hammond School District relocation. The site and
the area are above the 100 year flood plain and the tsunami zone. There are no wetlands impacted by
the proposed use. Accessibility is excellent, given the proximity to US Highway 101 and the condition
of Dolphin Road, which serves many commercial and industrial uses. There are other appropriately
zoned sites in the City and surrounding area, but there are few sites that do not conflict with
residential uses or prime retail, such as the Warrenton Highlands to the north. The number of
customers coming to the proposed facility is very small compared to the retail centers off of Ensign
Lane, or in downtown Warrenton. The proposed site is one of the few available that is above the
tsunami zone or in the flood plain. Conclusion: This criterion is met.




CITY OF WARRENTON
PLANNING AND BUILDING DEPARTMENT

COMMERCIAL SITE DESIGN e SDLIG e Y 750,
APPLICATION ZONING DISTRICT
To be accompanied by a Site Plan Map, copy of property deed RECEIPT #852% ,Zy

and if applicable, a Letter of Authorization.
DATE RECEIVED_()

The site plan review process is a method for assuring compliance with the City of Warrenton Comprehensive Plan
and Development Code, and to ensure wise utilization of natural resources, and the proper integration of land uses
utilizing appropriate landscaping or screening measures. A commercial enterprise must also consider traffic
circulation patterns, off-street parking, refuse containers, safe exit and entrance to the business, building height,
dust control, future widening of major thoroughfares, and signs. Please answer the questions as completely as
possible.

Legal Description of the Subject Property:Township __8__, Range __10__, Section(s) __33_, Tax Lot(s) 700

Property street address SE Dolphin Road (no address at this time)

I/WE, THE UNDERSIGNED APPLICANT(S) OR AUTHORIZED AGENT, AFFIRM BY MY/OUR
SIGNATURE(S) THAT THE INFORMATION CONTINED IN THE FOREGOING APPLICATION AND
ASSOCTATED SUBMISSIONS IS TRUE AND CORRECT.

APPLICANT:
Printed Name: an S
Signature: :«f/\ Date:_S-/2- 2072,

Address: 33485 SW Old Pine Road, Warrenton, OR 97146
Phone:___ 503 7173907______

City/State/Zip: Fax:

PROPERTY OWNER (if different from Applicant):

<

Signature: ' 74(\ Date;_ )| iz\2000

Address: 1817 SW Hawthorne Terrace Portland Oregon 97201
Phone: - -

Printed Name: Gearha/r?nd and Capital LLC

E-mail Address: (v e\ ol. tovr

commercial site design application
October 2018




City/State/Zip: Fax:

1. In detail, please describe your proposal:

The site consists of one parcel, tax lot T8 R10 Section 33AA, tax lot 700, currently owned by
Gearhart Land and Capital. The proposal is to build the complex in three phases, as shown on the
site plan. This application is intended to request conditional use approval for all phases, with
commercial site design approval for the first phase. Site design approval for the additional phases
will be sought at a later date. The site will be divided into 3 phases. The first phase includes a 10,000
sq.ft. building to be occupied by Ryan Osburn Plumbing LLC and for Osburn Olsen Land
Development. The second phase includes one building totaling approximately 5,000 square feet of
building space and is proposed for leased space for trades such as cabinetry. This phase may be sold
to another party in the future. The third phase includes up to 3 buildings totaling approximately
24,500 square feet of building space and is proposed for leased space for trades such as cabinetry.
This phase may be sold to another party in the future.

The site requires a 600 foot access which terminates at a hammerhead turnaround and includes
approximately 300 feet of existing access which is located in a private easement. The remaining 300
feet of the access will be constructed as a 24 foot wide private “Alley” designed to the City
standards and located in an access easement. A fire lane, approximately 60 feet long provides access
to the Phase I building. Phase II fire access is provided by the 300 foot long existing adjacent access.
An additional fire lane connects to the “Alley” at two points and provides access to the Phase III
buildings.

Water and Sewer Utilities are currently stubbed to the site. Public sewer and water main extensions
will be required and will include easements. Each individual building will receive separate services
for water and sewer. Stormwater utilities are located onsite and include easements. The existing
stormwater configuration will change and will provide service to the applicant’s lot as well as
continue to provide service to the adjacent lot. The reconfiguration will require a change to the
existing easement.

Garbage service will be provided by the City. Refuse container enclosures are placed around the
site and will be designed to City standards.

2. Describe what type of business, commodity sold or manufactured, or service you are proposing.

Ryan Osburn Plumbing LLC is a commercial and residential plumbing business. An associated business,
Osburn Olsen Land Development is also proposed at this location. These businesses will be in the Phase 1
10,000 sq. ft. building on the north side of the site. Additional building will be leased or sold as described
above. No leases have been made to date but any use will comply with City code requirements. Outdoor
storage of equipment and materials needed for the businesses will be screened and landscaped. Most of the
employees will work on plumbing or excavation jobs away from this location around Clatsop County.

Current number of employees:
20

commercial site design application
October 2018




Projected number of customers per day

8
Days of operation__ M-F Hours of operation__8-5
Number of shipments/deliveries per day 2 per week 7

By what method will these be arriving/sent? _truck

3. Does this property have an existing business or businesses? __ No it is vacant. However, it is adjacent to the
Clatsop Health District Memory Care Facility

If yes, please list the business names and their addresses, and note these businesses on your site plan map.

4. Is there a residence or residences on this property? No

If yes, please list the number of residences and please show these structures on your site plan map.

5. Availability of services: City water. Available _, City sewer Available Please refer
to Impact Study by Engineer.
6.1f you are an existing business, are materials or merchandise currently being stored on site?

N/A

Where and how do you propose to store materials or merchandise for sale or processing?
Some of the materials will be stored in the buildings, such as plumbing fixtures and materials such as pipe
and tools. Equipment such as excavators, and material such as gravel will be stored outside behind a

screened fence.

7. What percentage of the property is currently landscaped? None

What percentage of the property do you propose to landscape as part of this project?
46%

commercial site design application
October 2018




8. How do you intend to irrigate the existing and proposed landscaping? ___No irrigation is proposed. Drought
tolerant plants and ground cover will be utilized. Natural areas such as the drainage on the north side

will remain in their natural condition.

9. Signs require the submittal of a separate application, which may be submitted in conjunction with this site plan
application. Sign permits will be applied for at a later date.

9. Please explain how you propose to provide for the drainage of this property, or explain why no additional
drainage consideration is necessary.
The site plan shows the storm sewer outfall within the 50’ setback at the Highway 101 right of way.

Please provide the type of development on the neighboring properties.

North: Vacant
South: Vacant
East: Clatsop Health District Memory Care Facility
West: US Highway 101

12. Provide samples of the building materials for the exterior of the building with detail description of where each
type and color will be used in the construction and finishing of the building.

16.116.030 Design Standards.
The City’s development design standards are for the commercial district along Highway 101, SW Dolphin and SE

Marlin Avenues.

A.Orientation of Buildings. Building(s) shall be located on the property with the principal building entrance
oriented toward the primary focal point of the property/development.

Finding: The Osburn property fronts on Highway 101 on its west property boundary and is the
focal point of the property from the highway. The main entrance to the building will face the west
boundary as the focal point to the buildings design. This standard is met.

B.Natural Features. The property owner/developer is encouraged to protect and incorporate areas of special
interests and other natural features such as grade, trees, vegetation and waterways, into the overall site
plan. These areas may be calculated as part of the landscaping requirement if healthy and not damaged
during construction.

Finding: The property has non-buildable areas due to grades as identified on the surveyed site
plan. The new building and future buildings have been located adjacent to the non-buildable areas
and are incorporated in the landscape plan. This standard is met.

C. Building Requirements.
1. Customer Entrances. The customer entrance(s) shall be clearly defined and highly visible by using
features such as canopies, porticos, overhangs, recesses/projections, raised corniced parapets over the
door, arcades, arches, wing walls, and integral planters are highly encouraged.

Finding: the building entrance features a canopy supported by architectural columns within a
enlarged pedestrian sidewalk. This standard is met.

commercial site design application
October 2018




2. Roof Design. Roofs should be designed to reduce the apparent exterior mass of a building, add
visual interest and be appropriate to the architectural style of the building. Variations within one
architectural style are highly encouraged. Visible roof lines and roofs that project over the exterior wall
of a building enough to cast a shadow on the ground are highly encouraged. Architectural methods shall
be used to conceal flat roof tops. Overhanging eaves, sloped roofs and multiple roof elements are highly
encouraged. Mansard style roofs shall not be allowed.

Finding: The roof is a sloped gable design oriented to the highway frontage which is repeated at
the entrance canopy with the same roof pitch. This standard is met.

3. Materials.

a. The predominant exterior building materials shall be of high quality materials, including, but
not limited to brick, sandstone, wood, native stone and tinted/textured concrete masonry units
and/or glass products. Simulated material may be substituted for any of the aforementioned
building materials.

b. At least three different building materials shall be used for 100% construction of a building.
c. Exterior building materials shall not include smooth-faced concrete block, tilt-up concrete

panels, or T 1-11. Prefabricated steel panels are excluded unless the design and material meets the
City’s design standards.

d. Metal roof may be allowed if compatible with the overall architectural design of the building.
Finding: The predominant exterior building material shall be prefinished textured metal siding

and roofing with a feature of textured concrete masonry wainscote at the west frontage. The entry
canopy shall be of wood timber construction with matching metal roofing.

The colors for the siding will be a warm grey, the roofing a medium blue, black window frames,
concrete masonry dark grey, and the wood canopy structure a natural wood stain.

This standard is met.

4. Architectural Features. Architectural features include, but are not limited to, the following: recesses,
projections, wall insets, arcades, window display areas, awnings, balconies, window projections,
landscape structures or other features that complement the design intent of the structure and are
acceptable to the Community Development Director.

Finding: The entrance canopy will be detailed with a concrete masonry base matching the
building wainscote and exposed timber connections featuring exposed black hardware. This
standard is met.

5. Building Colors. Exterior colors shall be of low reflectance, subtle, neutral or muted earth tone
colors. The use of high intensity colors such as black, neon, metallic or fluorescent colors for the facade
and/or roof of the building are prohibited except as approved for building trim.

Finding: The building colors shall be a muted light gray for the siding, a dark grey for the
concrete masonry wainscote, and earth tones for the natural wood stain. The roofing and roof
fascias will be a blue feature color that ties with the Osburn company business logo. This standard
is met.

6. Mechanical Equipment, Outdoor Storage and Service Areas. The location of loading docks, outdoor
storage yards and all other service areas shall be located to the sides and/or rear of a building, except

commercial site design application
October 2018




when a site abuts Highway 101, in which case the said areas shall be located to the sides of the building
that do not face Highway 101.

a.  All outdoor storage yards, loading docks, service areas and mechanical equipment or vents
larger than eight inches in diameter shall be concealed by screens at least as high as the equipment
they hide, of a color and material matching or compatible with the dominant colors and materials
found on the facades of the principal building. Chain link or cyclone fencing (with or without slats)
shall not be used to satisfy this requirement.

b. Equipment that would remain visible despite the screening, due to differences in topography
(i.e., a site that is at a lower grade than surrounding roadways) shall be completely enclosed except
for vents needed for air flow, in which event such vents shall occupy no more than 25% of the
enclosure fagade.

c. The architectural design of the buildings shall incorporate design features which screen,
contain and conceal all heating, ventilation, air conditioning units, trash enclosures, dumpsters,
loading docks and service yards.

Finding: The mechanical equipment for the building shall consist of unit heaters mounted to the ceiling
of the shop area and a combination heating / cooling system for the office areas. Outdoor units for the
office units will be mounted on the ground on the north and south sides of the building surrounded by
wood screens. This standard is met.

A garbage enclosure of wood construction 6 feet high with wood gates shall be provided at the southeast
corner of the building with direct access for servicing. This standard is met.

C.Community Amenities. Each building shall contribute to the establishment or enhancement of the
community and public spaces by providing at least two community amenities such as: a patio/seating
area, water feature, art work or sculpture, clock tower, pedestrian plaza with park benches, open spaces,
or other features, such as a park acceptable to the review authority.

Finding: Open space of non-buildable areas shall be provided per the landscape plan. This standard is
met.

D.Outdoor Lighting. The lighting for residential, commercial and industrial zones shall be shielded and
directed down into the site and shall not shine or glare onto adjacent property or streets. Light poles, light
fixtures and flag poles shall not exceed 25 feet in height. Installation cost shall be borne by the developer.

Finding: Exterior lighting shall be a combination of building mounted area lights located on the
north, east and south sides of the building shielded to limit glare and light projection beyond the vehicle
parking and aisles. This standard is met.

E.Parking (Pods) Areas. Parking (pods) areas shall be divided by a six-foot pathway placed between the two
rows of head-on parking stalls, which shall extend the full length of each parking pod. There shall be
parking spaces provided for travelers in RVs and travel trailers. This section shall be in compliance with
the requirements in Section 16.120.030 and Chapter 16.128 (Vehicle and Bicycle Parking).

Finding: Parking pods are not incorporated in the site design. This standard is met.

commercial site design application
October 2018




F.Pathways/Walkways from Parking Area to Building Entrance(s). Internal pedestrian walkways shall be

developed for persons who need access to the building(s) from the parking pods (areas). The walkways
shall be located within the pods and shall be designed to provide access from the pods to the entrances of
the building(s). The walkways shall be designed to separate people from moving vehicles as much as
possible. These walkways shall have a minimum width of five feet with no car overhang or other
obstruction. The walkways must also be designed for disabled access according to the International
Building Code. This may require the walkways to be widened or modified. The walkways shall be
distinguished from the parking and driving areas by use of any of the following materials: special pavers,
bricks, raised elevation or scored concrete. Other materials may be used if they are appropriate to the
overall design of the site and building and acceptable to the review authority; and shall meet the
requirements in Section 16.120.030 (Pedestrian Access and Circulation).

Finding: A sidewalk is shown on the site plan connecting all building parking to the main building
entrance. ADA parking shall be provided immediately adjacent to themain building entrance in compliance
with ANSI guidelines. This standard is met.

G.Landscaping. Landscaping shall meet the requirements in Chapter 16.124 (Landscaping, Street Trees,
Fences and Walls).

Finding: A landscape plan shall be provided meeting the requirements of Chapter 16.124.

parking must be shown on your site plan map. If off-street parking is to be provided on another property, please
attach a copy of the parking easement or agreement from the property owner; or will off-street parking be provided
along the abutting street.

13. Will all parking for your business be provided on the property? Yes X No All

14. How does this request comply with the Warrenton Development Code Chapter 16, Section 16.40 (General
Commercial)?

16.40.050 Design Standards.
The following design standards are applicable in the C-1 zone:

A.Any commercial development shall comply with Chapter 16.116 of the Development Code.
See Findings re Ch. 16.116 above

B.Lots fronting onto U.S. Highway 101 shall have a setback of at least 50 feet between any part of the
proposed building and the nearest right-of-way line of U.S. Highway 101.

Finding: There is a fifty foot separation between the buildings and the US 101 right of way.

C.Signs in General Commercial Districts along Fort Stevens Highway/State Highway 104 (i.e., S. Main
Avenue, N. Main Avenue, NW Warrenton Drive, and Pacific Drive) shall comply with the special sign
standards of Section 16.144.040.

Finding: A sign permit will be applied for at a later date and will comply with these standards.

D. Maximum front yard setback for commercial buildings in the C-1 zone along Fort Stevens
Highway/State Highway 104 shall be 10 feet.

commercial site design application
October 2018




E. Maximum front yard setback for commercial buildings in the C- 1 zone adjacent to existing or planned
transit stops shall be 10 feet.
1. The Community Development Director may allow a greater front yard setback when the applicant
proposes extending an adjacent sidewalk or plaza for public use, or some other pedestrian amenity is
proposed between the building and public right-of-way, subject to Site Design Review approval. (Ord.

1225 § 3, 2019)

15.Orientation of proposed building(s) (see Section 16.116.030 in the Warrenton Development Code) _
See Findings re Ch. 16.116 above

16. Please address (on separate sheet of paper) all applicable sections of Design Standards (copy attached) out of
the Warrenton Development Code.

ek skokokoskokok ko sk kok kok ok

PLEASE UNDERSTAND THAT THIS APPLICATION WILL NOT BE OFFICIALLY ACCEPTED
UNTIL DEPARTMENT STAFF HAS DETERMINED THAT THE APPLICATION IS
COMPLETELY FILLED OUT AND THE SITE PLAN MAP REQUIREMENTS HAVE BEEN

COMPLETED.
Return Application To:
City of Warrenton Phone: 503-861-0920
Planning and Building Department Fax: 503-861-2351
PO Box 250

225 S. Main Street
Warrenton, Oregon 97146

ook okoskoskodk sk kb ek ok skokokokok

MAP INSTRUCTIONS AND CHECKLIST

kookskokokkkskkkok sk ok

A Site Plan Map, which shows all existing and proposed structures and parking areas, must accompany this
application. The following checklist identifies the specific information which should be included on this map.

__x__Title the map "Commercial Site Design".
__x__The map may be drawn on 8 %2 x 11 or 8 /2 x 14 inch white paper.
__x__Township, Range, Section and Tax Lot number of the subject property(ies) shall be included.

__x__North arrow, date, and map scale in one inch intervals (1" = 20) shall be noted.

commercial site design application
October 2018




__x__Shape, dimensions, and square footage of the parcel shall be shown. Draw the property line with a solid
black line and label adjacent street(s), if any.

__x__Identify existing and proposed easements with a dotted line.

__x__Identify the location and direction of all water courses and drainage ways, as well as the location of the 100-
year floodplain, if applicable.

__x__ Illustrate all existing buildings and their sizes.

__x__Illustrate all proposed new construction with dashed lines (include dimensions).

__x__Illustrate parking area with number of spaces and access drive areas. If off-street parking is to be provided,
even in part, on another property, please show its location on your site plan map, and attach a copy of the

parking easement or agreement from the adjoining property owner.

__x__Illustrate the entrance and exit points to the property, pattern of traffic flow, loading and unloading area,
sidewalks and bike paths.

__x__Illustrate the existing or proposed location, height, and material of all fences and walls.
_x__Tllustrate existing or proposed trash and garbage container locations, including type of screening.

_X___Name of the person who prepared the map.

_x___Location, type and height of outdoor lighting.
__x__Location of mailboxes if known.

__x__Locations, sizes, and types of signs (shall comply with Chapter 16.144 of the Warrenton Development Code).
__X__Map shall show entire tax lot plus surrounding properties.

__x__Identification of slopes greater than 10%.

__x__location, condition and width of all public and private streets, drives, sidewalks, pathways, right-of-ways, and
easements on the site and adjoining the site.

__x__Identify designated flood hazard area(s).
__x__Show wetland and riparian areas, streams and/or wildlife areas.
_X___Any designated historic and cultural resources areas on the site and/or adjacent parcels or lbts.

_x___Location, size and type of trees and other vegetation on the property.

commercial site design application
October 2018




OFFICE USE ONLY

riLe [ AP20-] FEE §1.000

City of Warrenton

Planning and Building Departn] ZONING DISTRICT

PO Box 250

Warrenton, Oregon 97146
503-861-0920

Conditional Use Application

l. Property

Address: _____ 2219 SE Dolphin Ave (adjacent to Clatsop Memory Care

Assessor’s Parcel No.: Twp 8N, Rng10W, Section_33AA Tax Lot_700

il. Applicant

Applicant: ____Ryan Osburn ' Phone: 503 717 3907_____

Mailing Address: __33485 SW Old Pine Road, Warrenton, Or 97146

E-Mail Address: grosburn@hotmail.com

u/*/ pate___S- 2L—20

), [}
Applicant’s Signature: j M% |

J




ill. Owner

Owner: Gearhart Land and Capital LLC Phone: __503 244 2998

Mailing Address: 1817 SW Hawthorne Terrace Portland, Oregon
97201

E-mail Address: ritchieland@aol.com

Owner’s Signature: ‘ﬁ‘w Cﬂ%’l’-\

IV. Describe the Proposed Use

Please see attached narrative




Six Conditional Use Criteria-Provide Written Responses to Each One-Section 16.220

1. The proposed use is in conformance with the Comprehensive Plan.

Fiense Ezfel [T fTTIETES NALRATIVE —

2. The location, size and design, and operating characteristics of the proposed use are such that the
development will be compatible with, and have a minimal impact on surrounding properties.

3. The use will not generate excessive traffic, when compared to traffic generated by uses permitted outright,
and adjacent streets have the capacity to accommodate the traffic generated.

4. Public facilities and services are adequate to accommodate the proposed use.

5. The site’s physical characteristics, in term of topography, soils and other pertinent considerations are, are
appropriate for the use.




6. The site has an adequate area to accommodate the proposed use. The site layout has been designed to
provide for the building, parking, landscaping, driveway, on-site circulation, public areas, loading areas,
storage facilities, setbacks, buffers, and utilities which are required by City ordinances.

This application will not be officially accepted until department staff has determined that the
application is completely filled out and the site plan requirements have been completed and a copy of
the deed.




ASUTRS

\_u.l I ':,.. \ ’P“
PLANNING AND BUILDING DEPARTMENT
Telephone: 503-861-0920

OFFICE USE ONLY

VARI ICATIO N
ARIANCE APPLICATION | \-20-1  ws13S0.
To be accompanied by a Site Plan, copy of property deed RRIESG DIS?{K e

and Letter of Authorization, if applicable. RECEIPT gz%j 7

The Variance application process is a method for assuring compliance with the City of Warrenton Comprehensive
Plan and Development Code, and to ensure wise utilization of natural resources, and the proper integration of
land uses utilizing appropriate landscaping or screening measures. Please answer the questions as completely as
possible.

Legal Description of the Subject Property:Township _8 , Range 10 , Section(s) 33
Tax Lot(s) 700
Property street address : 2219 SE Dolphin Avenue (adjacent to Memory Care Center)

1/we, the undersigned applicant(s) or authorized agent, affirm by my/our signature(s) that the information
contained in the foregoing application and associated submissions is true and correct.
APPLICANT:

Printed Name: Ryan

y
Signature: //}/, /0 / Dater w3 * Ca" E572MH)

Address:__334ésw Old Pine Dr Warrenton, Or 97146
Phone:__503 717 3907

City/State/Zip: Fax:

PROPERTY OWNER (if different from Applicant):

Printed Name: _G arhart Land and Capital LLC
Signature: 2 ;4 a Gé\é/l_/\ . 1/7’14/\@?2[ pate:__A|22.1202.0

Address:__1817 SW Hawthorne Terrace Portland, Oregon 97201
Phone:___ &N2-O4Y-294 9

City/State/Zip: Fax:

Variance Application
October 2018




This application will not be officially accepted until department staff has determined that the application is
completed, the site plan map requirements are met, and a copy of the deed is included.

Variance Application
October 2018




NARRATIVE: Please describe the variance request:

The applicant, Ryan Osburn, requests a variance to Sec.16.216.020(k)(4), which limits a shared rear lane to 400" in
order to build a commercial complex at the above address. This request is for 606’. The lot currently has shared
access off Dolphin Avenue via a 27’ access easement across the adjacent property and has been in existence since
the Memory Care facility was built In 2015. This access is owned by Gearhart Land and Capital and currently
provides access to the applicant’s single lot. The proposed single lot is anticipated to be divided into 3 lots and
built out in 3 phases. The two rear lots will have frontage on Highway 101 but would otherwise not have access to
Dolphin Avenue. There is no access from other streets or Highway 101 to the 2 proposed rear lots. The proposed
development is on an irregularly shaped parcel and the requested additional length would provide access to the
proposed rear lots. The existing 27’ access easement is adequate to serve all three lots for the traffic anticipated,
according to the traffic impact analysis and would consolidate access from 4 individual access points into one

shared access.

Standard Required Proposed
Front Yard Setback US Hwy 101 | 50’ 50'

Rear Yard Setback n/a

Side Yard Setback n/a

Lot Dimension n/a

Height 45 feet 33 feet
Landscaping 20% 46%
Parking 41 44

Variance Application
October 2018




SIX VARIANCE CRITERIA

1. The hardship was not created by the person requesting the variance. Please explain.
Finding: When the Clatsop Health Care District Memory Care facility was built several years ago,
the 27°driveway was designed to provide access to the facility, even though there was additional
adjacent buildable land. The proposed Osburn development will utilize the existing easement
driveway for about 300 feet, and then join a new 24’ alley to serve the buildings west of the
Memory Care building. It would be a hardship and poor land use to reconstruct an existing 27’
driveway for the Osburn project, since it was not created by the proposed developer but by the
District. The other alternative (building a new street north of the easement) would be difficult
because of steep slopes and a waste of buildable commercial lands. This criterion is met.

2. The request is necessary to make reasonable use of the property. There will be an unreasonable
economic impact upon the person requesting the variance if the request is denied.
Finding: The request is necessary to make reasonable use of the property, since it is the only
practical way of providing access to the four buildings being proposed. Access off of US 101 is not
possible. Reconstructing the access to meet current street standards is a waste of resources and
would be an unreasonable economic impact. This criterion is met.

3. The request will not substantially be injurious to the neighborhood in which the property in
located. The variance will not result in physical impacts, such as visual, noise, traffic or increased
potential for drainage, erosion and landslide hazards, beyond those impacts that would typically occur
with development in the subject zone.
Finding: The only neighbor of the proposal is the Memory Care facility, and the driveway has
been designed to avoid impacting the residents through the use of landscaping fencing and by
rerouting the driveway to the north. This will buffer the visual, noise and traffic impacts away
from the care center. Storm drainage will be designed to take the runoff to Highway 101, The site
is generally flat, and construction will not impact the care center or adjacent properties in terms of
erosion or landslide hazards. This criterion is met.

4. The request is not in conflict with the Comprehensive Plan. Please explain.
Finding: The request will make efficient use of buildable lands that are zoned for commercial and
industrial uses. It is consistent with the policies of the Comprehensive Plan. This criterion is met.

5. The request is not in conflict with the Development Code. No variance may be granted which will
result in a use not permitted in the applicable zone or which will increase the allowable residential
density in any zone with the exception of individual lot size reduction. Please explain.
Finding: The uses proposed are permitted conditionally in the C-1 zone. There are no residential
uses proposed. This criterion is met.

6. Physical circumstance(s) related to the property involved preclude conformance with the standard
to be varied. Please explain.
Finding: The area of the property to be utilized if the variance is granted is generally flat or gently
sloping. If a wider street or driveway were te be built, twe of the buildings would have to be
moved to the north which is steep and would require substantial excavation and construction to
provide the amount of square footage and useable outdoor area required, This criterion is met.

Variance Application
October 2018




The request meets the variance criteria above, It is respectfully requested that the Planning
Commission grant the variance to the width and length standards.
Return Application To: City of Warrenton

Planning and Building Department

PO Box 250, 225 S. Main Street

Warrenton, Oregon 97146

Variance Application
October 2018




PROPOSED FINDINGS OF FACT
RYAN OSBURN CONDITIONAL USE AND SITE DESIGN APPLICATION
May 27, 2020

Background Information

Ryan Osburn proposes to construct a commercial complex on SE Dolphin Road, and fronting on
US Highway 101. The site consists of one parcel, tax lot T8 R10 Section 33AA, tax lot 700,
currently owned by Gearhart Land and Capital. Access is off of SE Dolphin Road. The proposal
is a 10,000 square foot office and warehouse for Ryan Osburn Plumbing LL.C, and Osburn Olsen
Land Development as phase I, and 30,000 square feet leased space for other businesses, such as
contractors, cabinetmakers, and other trades. These will be Phases II and IIL. This application is
intended to request conditional use approval for all phases, and Site Design approval for the
Osburn building. Site Design approval for phases II and IIT will be sought at a later date.

The land is currently vacant, and is adjacent to the Clatsop Health District Memory Care facility.
The property is shown on the attached map prepared by A.M.Engineering, dated May 22, 2020.
SE Dolphin Road contains a wide variety of uses, including Pacific Power, NW Natural, ODOT,
Warrenton Storage, the Warrenton Hammond School District, Oregon State Police, and a
plumbing company among others.

The property is flat to gently sloping where most of the development is proposed, but a steeper
drainage area is on the northwest corner of the site and drains down to a wetland which will
remain undeveloped. The ODOT right of way along US 101 slopes steeply down to the road
area and contains a number of large Sitka spruce trees, and will remain undeveloped. No access
is permitted onto US 101 at this location.

As shown on the Site Plan, the Phase 1 consists of 82,898 gross square feet of land area, or 1.9
acres. Phase II consists of 37,846 gross square feet of land area or .86 acres. Phase III will
consist of 74,038 gross square feet or 1.7 acres. Landscaping, including natural areas, will
occupy 55% of the Phase I site, 56% of the Phase II site, and 31% of the Phase III site. Overall
landscaping consists of 46% of the site. According to the City Development Code, maximum lot
coverage of buildings is 55%, minimum landscaping is 15%, and common open space must be a
minimum of 20%. The building lot coverage is 17% of the site.

It is Mr. Osburn’s request that Conditional Use and Site Design approval be granted for Phase 1
so that construction can occur this year. Phases IT and III will be built at a later date, possibly in
a one to two year horizon, at which time Site Design Review will be applied for.

16.220.030 Conditional Use Review Criteria and Findings of Fact

A. Before a conditional use is approved findings will be made that the use will comply
with the following standards:

1. The proposed use is in conformance with the Comprehensive Plan.




Findings: The proposal is in conformance with the Comprehensive Plan. The site is
within the urban growth boundary and city limits and is zoned C-1. The site is located
in an area of significant development and varied uses as described above. The
proposed development is not in a designated wetlands or other sensitive area. There
are no critical habitat areas or historic structures on site. Under Goal 6, the
development will be infill, using land which is already largely developed and where
services are available, and will reduce energy costs and therefore improve air, water
and land quality. The site is out of the tsunami inundation zone and is relatively flat or
gently sloping, and therefore not within a landslide hazard area in accordance with
Goal 7. In terms of economic benefit, the development will employ10-20 well paid
workers by Osburn Plumbing and Osburn Olsen Land Development, and considerably
more as the leased contractor spaces are filled. It is difficult to predict what businesses
will lease the 30,000 square feet of commercial space, but they will likely generate
additional new jobs in the City, and have to comply with the City development code.
Under Goal 11, Public Facilities and Services, the City of Warrenton has adequate
capacity to serve the apartment complex with both water and wastewater services, as
described in the engineering impact statement. All other private and public services
are available nearby, including gas, power, phone, and cable service. A transportation
analysis was completed which recommended minor improvements on site. The site is
on a major road that is capable of handling the traffic generated by the development.
Therefore, the proposal is consistent with Goal 12, Transportation. The proposal is
consistent with Goal 13, Energy Conservation in that it is a dense and efficient use of
land, and will be built to modern energy codes. It is close to rapidly growing
development centers which will utilize the plumbing and land development services,
reducing travel times and energy costs. The proposal is consistent with Goal 14,
Urbanization, because it is within the city limits and is in an area committed to
development. Goals 15, 16, 17, 18 and 19 do not apply to the proposal.

Applicable Comprehensive Plan policies:

Section 2.320(1)(a) Urban Development

Make urbanizable land available for urban uses in stages as public facilities
adequate to serve urban development become available.

Finding: The proposed site is within the city limits and zoned for urban development. It
is surrounded by commercial urban development. Public facilities including sewer,
water, and roads are all adequate to serve the development. SE Dolphin Road has
witnessed significant development in the last decade or so, with the construction of the
Clatsop Care Memory Care Center, Oregon State Police, Northwest Natural Gas, ODOT,
and most recently, the Warrenton Hammond School District. The City has made
services, including sewer and water, available at a level that can support the increased
level of development.




The project will contribute to the economy of the City and region by providing a location
for several independent businesses in addition to Osburn Plumbing and Osburn Olsen
Land Development, with potentially 30-40 employees at build out. The nature of the
businesses, land development, indicates that employees will have higher than median
incomes such as plumbing, excavation and other trades. These businesses will support
development in Warrenton and the region.

Section 4.300 Policies

Sec. 4310 Soils. Sec. 4.320 Flood Hazards Sec 4.330 Drainage and Erosion Sec.
4.340 Topography Sec. 4.350 Water Quality Sec. 4.370 Fish and Wildlife

Finding: The site is especially suited to development in terms of soils, flood hazards,
drainage and erosion, topography, and water quality. It is relatively flat, and is
surrounded by other development that has experienced no foundation problems. It is
above the 100-year flood zone as well as the tsunami zone. Best practices will be
used to protect surrounding waterways from erosion and sedimentation, including the
adjacent wetlands.

Sec. 4.380 Scenic and Historic Resources Sec. 4.390 Energy Conservation

Finding: The large trees on the edge of the ODOT right of way will be retained, and will
partially screen the project from the highway. There are no known historic or
archeological resources on the site. In terms of energy conservation, the development is
in a densely developed area allowing services to be provided efficiently. The buildings
will meet modern energy codes and conserve energy for heating and lighting.

2. The location, size, design and operating characteristics of the proposed use
are such that the development will be compatible with, and have a minimal
impact on, surrounding properties.

Finding: There will be minimal impact on adjacent development because of the way
the area has developed, with extensive mixed commercial and industrial activity. The
landscaping is more than double the amount required. Except during construction of
the project, the daily operation of the businesses will not disrupt the Clatsop Care
Center. All activities will be indoors in well insulated buildings.

3. The use will not generate excessive traffic, when compared to traffic
generated by uses permitted outright, and adjacent streets have the capacity to
accommodate the traffic generated.




Finding: Please see Attachment A, below. Lancaster Engineering determined that the
transportation system is adequate to handle the development with minor
improvements.

4. Public facilities and services are adequate to accommodate the proposed use.

Finding: A separate engineering study is submitted, and indicates that all public
facilities and services are adequate for these uses.

5. The site’s physical characteristics, in terms of topography, soils and other
pertinent considerations, are appropriate for the use.

Finding: The existing site, which is flat to gently sloping, is capable of supporting the
development. The Clatsop Health Memory Care facility has been developed on the
adjacent site for five years and has experienced no soils or foundation issues.
Structural fill will be needed for the northern portion of the north building, and will be
engineered.

6. The site has an adequate area to accommodate the proposed use. The site
layout has been designed to provide for appropriate access points, on-site drives,
public areas, loading areas, storage facilities, setbacks and buffers, utilities or
other facilities which are required by City ordinances or desired by the applicant.

Finding: The site plan indicates that the project meets the requirements of the
development code in terms of parking, fire access, waste collection, common open
space, wetlands buffers, and utilities. Parking spaces for all phases total 44 spaces,
based on development codes requirements. Bicycle parking is provided at several
locations on the site plan. Four waste containers are provided with adequate
maneuvering space for waste vehicles.




Commercial Site Design Application Narrative

Proposal

As described in the Conditional Use application, Ryan Osburn LLC proposes to construct three
buildings on the western portion of tax lot 700, T8R10 Section 33. The buildings will house
the Osburn Plumbing, and Osburn Olsen Land Development on the north, as well as leased
contractors’ shops on the south. The largest building will be 20,000 s.f. on the southwest
area, a 10,000 s.f. building to the north, and a smaller 5,000 s.f. building on the eastern
portion of the site. The buildings will contain several different functions, including offices,
shops, warehousing and a retail store. Osburn Plumbing and Land Development employs
about 20 people. Plumbing and land development clients are generally off site, so workers
leave the site and travel to other locations.

16.188.030 Design Standards.

A. Building Mass Supplemental Standard. The maximum width or length of a
multiple-family building shall not exceed 200 feet (from end-wall to end-
wall).

Finding: None of the buildings exceed 200 feet in length.

B. Common Open Space Standard. A minimum of 20% of the site area shall
be designated and permanently reserved as useable common open space.

Finding: 89,688 s.f. of the site will either remain natural or be formally
landscaped. Formal landscaping is shown at the corners of the
buildings and along US 101.

C. Trash Receptacles. Trash receptacles are shown on the site plan.

Finding: Trash and recycling receptacles will be screened from view by attractive
fencing and landscaping.




10

General Design Standards:

16.120.020 Vehicular Access and Circulation.

Finding: The development will access the site through an easement from SE Dolphin,
as shown on the site plan.

16.136.050 Storm Drainage Improvements.

Finding: Storm drainage will be provided and as shown on the site plan.

16.136.060 Utilities.

Finding: All utilities (power, cable, phone) will be placed underground. Easements
will be provided in the final design.

Chapter 16.140 Stormwater and Surface Water Management

Finding: Stormwater will be collected and piped to the SE Dolphin Road stormwater
system.

16.156.030 Wetland Area Development Standards.

Finding: There are no wetlands on the developed portion of the site. Thereisa 50
setback from the wetlands to the North.

16.192.030 Soil Suitability.

Finding: The site is generally flat, except where the northern portion of the north
building is planned, where structural fill will be utilized. The surrounding
development, such as the Memory Care facility, have seen no soil issues..




11

16.192.050 Utilities.

Finding: The utility plan has been prepared by A.M. Engineering. A separate Impact
Study has been prepared.

16.192.060 Schools.

Finding: The development is not residential and will have no impact on the Warrenton
Hammond school district.

16.192.070 Landscape Suitability.

Finding: A landscape plan is shown on the site plan. Including the natural area, the
landscape area is approximately 90,000 s.f. The landscaping will contain a mixture of
trees, shrubs, perennials and natural grass areas.

16.208.050 Type III Procedure (Quasi-Judicial).
Impact Study

The commercial complex will include the following impacts on public facilities and
services:

Transportation. A traffic impact study prepared by Lancaster Engineering has
determined that there will be 198 average weekday trips from the development, with 28
peak morning trips and 25 peak evening trips. No mitigating measures are proposed.




12

Drainage. Stormwater runoff will be collected in catch basins and piped to US 101.

Parks. The development is not residential so parks availability is not a factor.

Water and sewer: An engineering report and Impact Statement by Adam Daily, P.E. is
submitted.

Schools: There will be no impact on the Warrenton Hammond School District.




ATTACHMENT A. OSBURN TRAFFIC ANALYSIS (DRAFT)

Memorandum

To: Ryan Osburm

From;  mike morgan
Brian Davis, AICP

Date:  [Publish Date]

Subject: [Subject]

Introduction

This memorandum reports and evaluates the transportation impacts related to the proposed Osburn Plumbing
facility, to be located west of the Clatsop Care Memory Community located at 2219 SE Dolphin Avenue in
Warrenton, Oregon. The proposed project includes the construction of four buildings totalling approximately
40,000 square feet.

The purpose of this memorandum is to examine the projected trip generation of the proposed use, evaluate
multimodal traffic safety within the site’s vicinity, review identified issues or concerns within the City's
Transportation System Plan (TSP) relevant to proposed development, and evaluate other potential issues with
regard to the site access and nearby public intersections according to the guidelines presented in Warrenton
Municipal Code 16.256 Traffic Impact Study.

Project Site Description

The site is located within a commercial-zoned area near the southern edge of the City limits, with industrial
zoning to the north, east, and south, and lake/wetlands zoning to the west. The subject site consists of a single
tax lot (lot 700) which encompasses an approximate total of 4.59 acres and is currently undeveloped. The site
will be served by a single existing driveway onto SE Dolphin Avenue, which currently provides access to the
Clatsop Care Memory Community.

Vicinity Roadways

The proposed development is expected to impact three roadways near the site. Table 1 provides a description
of each of the vicinity roadways.

13



Roadway

SE Dolphin
Avenue

US Highway
101 (US-101)

Perkins
Lane

Table 1: Roadway Characteristics

Jurisdiction

City of
Warrenton

ODOT

City of
Warrenton

Functional
Classification

Local Street

Principal
Arterial/Statewide
Highway

Local Street

25 Posted

45/55
Posted

25
Statutory

Curbs &
Sidewalks

Partial Both
Sides

Partial Both
Sides

None

On-Street Bicycle

Parking Lanes

Permitted None
Not
C_’ Both Sides
Permitted
Partiall
. y None
Permitted

Note: Functional Classification based on City of Warrenton Transportation Systern Plan (Volume 1 Figure 9) and ODOT
Oregon Highway Plan/Oregon Transportation Map.

Figure 1 presents an aerial image of the nearby vicinity with the project site outlined in yellow.

14



Project Location

o

Figure 1: Project Location (image from Google Maps)

Trip Generation & Distribution

The proposed Osburn Plumbing facility will include the construction of four buildings totalling approximately
40,000 square feet of gross floor area. According to the pre-application notes from March 5%, 2020, the plans
for the proposed use include a contractor warehouse and showroom, as well as other construction and
plumbing businesses. To estimate the number of site trips that will be generated by the proposed development,
trip rates from the Trip Generation Manual ' were used. Data from land use code 110, General Light Industrial,
was used to estimate the proposed development’s trip generation based on the square footage of the gross
floor area.

The trip generation calculations show that the proposed development is expected to generate 28 trips during
the morning peak hour, 25 trips during the evening peak hour, and 198 trips on a typical weekday. The trip

"Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE), Trip Generation Manual, 10 Edition, 2017

15



generation calculations are summarized in Table 2. Detailed trip generation calculation worksheets are included
as an attachment to this study.

Table 2: Trip Generation Summary

Morning Peak Hour  Evening Peak Hour  Weekday

Size I
Enter Exit Total Enter Exit Total Tota

General Light Industrial 110 40,000 SF 25 3 28 3 22 25 198

Trip Distribution

The directional distribution of site trips to/from the project site was estimated based on the locations of likely
trip destinations and location of major transportation facilities in the site vicinity.

The following trip distribution was estimated and used for analysis:

o Approximately 80 percent of primary site trips will travel to/from the north along SE Dolphin Avenue;
and

e Approximately 20 percent of primary site trips will travel to/from the south along SE Dolphin Avenue.

Safety Analysis

Crash Data Analysis

Using data obtained from the Oregon Department of Transportation’s (ODOT) Crash Data System, a review was
performed for the most recent five years of available crash data (January 2013 through December 2017) along
SE Dolphin Avenue from US-101 to Perkins Lane. The crash data was evaluated based on the number of crashes,
the type of collisions, and the severity of the collisions.

Based on the crash data, there were no reported crashes along SE Dolphin Avenue during the analysis period.

Sight Distance Analysis

Sight distance was evaluated in accordance with the standards established in A Policy of Geometric Design of
Highways and Streets2. According to AASHTO, the driver’s eye is assumed to be 15 feet from the near edge of
the nearest travel lane, or travelled way, of the intersecting street and at a height of 3.5 feet above the minor-
street approach pavement. The vehicle driver's eye height along the major-street approach is assumed to be
3.5 feet above the cross-street pavement.

There are two types of sight distance evaluations described by AASHTO. Intersection sight distance (ISD) is the
amount of sight distance necessary for a vehicle along the minor street to enter the intersection without causing

2 American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO), A Policy of Geometric Design of Highways and Streets,
6t Edition, 2011.

16



major street traffic to slow excessively, and is thus typically considered an operational metric. Stopping sight
distance (SSD) is the sight distance necessary for major street vehicles to perceive and react to an entering
minor street vehicle in time to avoid a crash, and is considered the minimum requirement to ensure safe
operation of the driveway.

Based on a posted speed of 25 mph along SE Dolphin Avenue, the minimum required stopping sight distance
to ensure safe operation of the site access onto the roadway is 155 feet to the north and south of the access.
Additionally, the minimum required intersection sight distance for vehicles stopped on the minor-street
approach is 280 feet to the north and south of the access.

The proposed Osburn Plumbing facility will be utilizing an existing driveway for site access which currently
serves the Clatsop Care Memory Community. Based on a review of the surrounding area, adequate SSD is
available to allow safe operation of the existing access onto SE Dolphin Avenue. In addition, ISD at the
intersection can be met if vegetation north of the site access is trimmed to the right-of-way line, which would
ensure maximal efficiency of the access.

Intersection and Access Geometry

Based on the review of the existing nearby transportation infrastructure, as well as a review of sight distance at
the access intersection and crash history along nearby vicinity roadways, no safety issues with regard to the
geometry of nearby intersections and the site access were noted.

Multi-Modal Access and Safety

Motor Vehicles

As described in the Crash Data Analysis section, there were no reported crashes along SE Dolphin Avenue
during the five-year analysis period. Since no crashes were reported, there do not appear to be any trends
indicative of significant safety hazards at the nearby transportation facilities.

With regard to site access via motor vehicles, an existing site access at SE Dolphin Avenue will serve as the main
connection between the site and the greater transportation system (specifically US-101 and Perkins Lane). The
aforementioned roadways will serve as the primary routes of travel between the site and other major
destinations including downtown Warrenton, Astoria, Gearhart, and Seaside.

Based on a review of motor vehicle access and safety, no mitigation pertaining to this specific mode of travel is
necessary or recommended.

Pedestrians
As described in the Crash Data Analysis section, there were no pedestrian-related collisions along the analyzed
roadway segment of SE Dolphin Avenue.

SE Dolphin Avenue is a two-lane roadway that has a posted speed of 25 mph. Referencing traffic counts
collected at the intersection of US Highway 101 at SE Dolphin Avenue on Tuesday, October 30, 2018, and
Wednesday, October 31, 2018, no more than 83 vehicles (approximately 1to 2 vehicles on average per minute)
were recorded as traveling along SE Dolphin Avenue during the single highest hour of traffic. During this same
hour, no pedestrians and no bicyclists were recorded as traveling along SE Dolphin Avenue.

17



Limited sidewalks are currently in place along portions of SE Dolphin Avenue near the project site, including
along the adjacent property frontage of Clatsop Care Memory Community, as well as along the property
frontages of the Oregon State Police building, Out of Site Storage, and Ben's Computer Store.

The City of Warrenton’s pre-application notes dated March 5%, 2020, recommend that thermoplastic crosswalks
be designed and installed between buildings and across driveway entrances (Warrenton Municipal Code
16.210.030.B.3. In addition, the City recommends that a sidewalk be built along SE Dolphin Avenue to access the
new school campus located east of the proposed Osburn Plumbing facility site. There is currently a partial
sidewalk along the eastern border of the property, and we recommend extending this sidewalk to the northern
edge of the property line.

With buildout of the proposed Warrenton-Hammond School District Master Plan project located east of the
proposed Osburn Plumbing facility site, vehicle and pedestrian traffic is likely to increase in the area due to a
new roadway connection between the school and SE Dolphin Avenue. According to the Warrenton-Hammond
School District Master Plan Transportation and Parking Impact Analysis®, a majority of new site trips are expected
to travel to and from US-101 along SE Dolphin Avenue. It is noted that this TIA did not recommend extending
sidewalks to the south along SE Dolphin Avenue due to the low number of residential uses to the south of the
site which could benefit from the installation of a sidewalk.

Due to no reported crashes along SE Dolphin Avenue, the low volumes of pedestrian and motor vehicle traffic,
and a posted speed of 25 mph along SE Dolphin Avenue, the roadway is expected to operate safely with regard
to pedestrian safety. In addition, the proposed Osburn Plumbing facility is not projected to generate significant
volumes of pedestrian traffic, especially when compared to the new school campus.

Based on a review of pedestrian access and safety, no other mitigation to this specific mode of travel is
necessary or recommended beyond the installation of thermoplastic crosswalks between buildings and across
driveway entrances, and the extension of the existing sidewalk to the northern property boundary.

Bicycles
As described in the Crash Data Analysis section, there were no bicycle-related collisions along the analyzed
roadway segment of SE Dolphin Avenue.

Bicycle lanes, which separate bicyclists from motor vehicle traffic, are not provided along the length of SE
Dolphin Avenue, while paved shoulders are available to bicyclists along US-101. For other nearby residential
local streets, traffic volumes are generally low with motor vehicle traffic traveling at low speeds (i.e. SE Dolphin
Avenue and nearby local streets have posted/statutory speeds of 25 mph). Given these vicinity streets may be
considered low-stress roadways, bicyclists may safely and comfortably travel along roadway shoulders and may
safely share the roadway with motor vehicle traffic when necessary.

Based on a review of bicycle access and safety, no mitigation pertaining to this specific mode of travel is
necessary or recommended.

Transit
There are two nearby bus stops that could reasonably serve the site. The first transit stop is located within
approximately 6/10-mile walking/biking distance to the north and serves Route 707 (weekday service between

3 Lancaster Mobley, Warrenton-Hammond School District Master Plan Transportation and Parking Impact Analysis, January 10, 2020

18




Astoria and Seaside) and Pacific Connector (weekend service between Astoria and Cannon Beach). To access the
project site from stop 1D 313 and stop ID 302 ("Ensign and 101"), transit users may travel southbound from the
stop along US-101to SE Dolphin Avenue, and then travel southbound on SE Dolphin Avenue to the site.

The second nearby bus stop that could reasonably serve the site is located within approximately 7/10-mile
walking/biking distance to the north and serves Route 75 (weekday service between Warrenton and Hammond),
Route 16 (weekend service between Warrenton and Hammond), and Pacific Connector. To access the project
site from stop ID 312 ("Walmart"), transit users may travel westbound from the stop along SE Ensign Lane, turn
and travel southbound along US-101 to SE Dolphin Avenue, and then travel southbound along SE Dolphin
Avenue to the site.

With buildout of the proposed Warrenton-Hammond School District Master Plan project located east of the
proposed Osburn Plumbing facility site, pedestrian facilities will be constructed along the south side of the
proposed east/west roadway connection (located along the north side of the proposed school site) between SE
Dolphin Avenue and Bugle Road. Bugle Road is proposed as a new north/south roadway to provide access
between the proposed schools and SE Ensign Lane. With the addition of these new roadways, transit users will
have additional ways to access transit stops on SE Ensign Lane and US-101.

The available transit services and facilities are sufficient to adequately serve the proposed Osburn Plumbing
facility. Based on a review of transit user access and safety, no mitigation to this specific mode of travel is
necessary or recommended.

Conclusions

e The proposed Osburn Plumbing facility is projected to generate 28 morning peak hour trips, 25
evening peak hour trips, and 198 average weekday trips.

e There were no reported crashes along SE Dolphin Avenue between US Highway 101 and Perkins Lane,
and there do not appear to be any significant safety deficiencies on nearby transportation facilities.
Accordingly, no safety mitigation is necessary or recommended.

e Based on a review of the surrounding area, adequate SSD is available to allow safe operation of the
existing access onto SE Dolphin Avenue. In addition, ISD at the intersection can be met if vegetation
north of the site access is timmed to the right-of-way line, which would ensure maximal efficiency of
the access.

e Based on the review of the existing nearby transportation infrastructure, as well as a review of sight
distance at the access intersection and crash history along nearby vicinity roadways, no safety issues
with regard to the geometry of nearby intersections and the site access were noted.

e The applicant is proposing installation of thermoplastic crosswalks between buildings and across
driveway entrances, as well as the extension of the existing sidewalk to the northern property boundary
in accordance with feedback from the City. No other mitigations are needed or recommended for
pedestrians.

e  Based on a review of bicycle access and safety, no mitigation pertaining to this specific mode of travel
is necessary or recommended.

19



* The available transit services and facilities are sufficient to adequately serve the proposed Osburn
Plumbing facility. Based on a review of transit user access and safety, no mitigation related to this
specific mode of travel is necessary or recommended.

If you have any questions regarding this technical memorandum, please don't hesitate to contact us.

20




NOSIHO ALNIGO JOBLY 10 NOLNGHEVAM
WM MO 'NBL ‘6S

UGHYE U8 NOLLYOrddY Jud
ININJOTIAZA LS
ONIGNNTd NHNGSO

m><z_:m._ommm
e o e i

T

o -

l|--|l|?\--| u
it e s P
s S j“. et : :,,,I..Sh_m £

3 H

T30

PRE-APPLICATION SITE EXHIBIT

STHE

e B



Section 1.0 Introduction

The development of the Osburn Plumbing Site is generally located south of the intersection of
Highway 101 and S.E. Dolphin Rd. in Township 8 North, Range 10 West, Section 33, Willamette
Meridian.

The existing lot is zoned C1 — General Commercial. The lot will be developed for office,
retail, warehouse, and construction trades. Buildings, parking, landscaping, display area,
and associated public utility extensions for service are included. The total acreage to be
developed will be approximately 2.7 acres of the 4.5 acre lot. One shared private access on
S.E. Dolphin Rd. is proposed and existing. Existing utilities are expected to be tied into at
the previously stubbed out locations on the property. They will include gravity sewer service,
water service, and an outfall for storm drainage.

Warrenton Municipal Code 16.208.050(B)(2)(e) requires an impact study for all Type il
developments.

e. Include an impact study for all Type Ill applications. The impact study shall quantify/assess
the effect of the development on public facilities and services. The study shall address, at a
minimum, the transportation system, including pedestrian ways and bikeways, the drainage
system, the parks system, the water system, the sewer system, and the noise impacts of the
development. For each public facility system and type of impact, the study shall propose
improvements necessary to meet City standards and to minimize the impact of the development
on the public at large, public facilities systems, and affected private property users. In situations
where this Code requires the dedication of real property to the City, the applicant shall either
specifically agree to the dedication requirement, or provide evidence that shows that the real
property dedication requirement is not roughly proportional to the projected impacts of the
development.

Section 2.0 Transportation System
The impact report for the transportation system is provided by a separate document.
Section 3.0 Drainage System

The project is located in the Skipanon River drainage basin.

The proposed development of 2.41 acres of impervious area and 0.29 semi-pervious acres of
landscaping is expected to result in a net increase in runoff rate.

The property generally slopes to the north and west with slopes ranging from approximately 0 to 50%.
The proposed development maintains the existing drainage regime of discharge to the north and west.
There is an existing storm outfall at the southwest corner of the property which drains to the ditch along
the eastern right of way of Highway 101 which drains the property to the Skipanon River. From the site,
the Skipanon River runs approximately 3.5 miles to the Columbia River. Detention and treatment are not
proposed for the site and are not required by the City at this location.

1

Osbum Site Development - Impact Study A.M. Engineering

P:\20000 Osburn Plumbing Site Development\Project Docs\Osburn Plumbing Impact Study.docx




Section 4.0 Parks System

The October 2010 Warrenton Parks Master Plan was prepared by Cameron McCarthy Gilbert & Scheibe
Landscape Architects and Planners (CMGS) in association with the University of Oregon’s Community
Planning Workshop (CPW). Map 3-1, Warrenton Parks System, shows the two closest “parks” as the Post

Office (Flag) Park, 2.5 miles from the project, and the Warrenton High School, 1.6 miles from the project.
There are no parks to the east of these two.

The Warrenton Trails Master Plan July 7, 2008 was prepared by the City of Warrenton and The
Warrenton Trails Association.

Appendix F, shows a map of the Creekside Trail Network, which is the closest trail network to the site.
The trail is approximately 0.5 miles from the site and is separated a mix of public and private property.
The proposed development will not create a negative impact to trail users because the development does
not alter the existing trail and is not within view of the trail.

Section 5.0 Water System

The domestic water estimate for this retail commercial site, assuming 3 employees in each building, all
day, at an estimated 30 gpd per employee, would begin at 450 gallons per day (gpd) for the entire site.

Vehicle washing may also occur. At an estimated 22 gallons per wash, 4 washes per week, results in a
monthly demand of 176 gallons or about 12 gpd.

The total water demand can be estimated at 462 gpd. For comparison, one residential home with 4
people would produce about 400 gpd.

Currently there is an 8” water main located on the property that will be extended to provide an additional

fire hydrant for the site. The 8" line is connected to a 12" line in Dolphin. It is expected the proposed
development will not create a negative impact to the water system.

Section 6.0 Sewer System

Conservatively, the sewer demand for this impact study can be estimated as being equal to the impact
study domestic water demand estimate of 450 gpd.

At the pre-application meeting held 2/26/20, the City Public Works Director did not indicate there are any

concerns with the capacity of the downstream sewer system lines and pump station. There is an
advanced financing agreement for connection to the pump station which may require contribution.

Section 7.0 Noise

The proposed site and adjacent properties to the north and south are zoned general commercial. The
property to the east is zoned industrial. Highway 101 is located to the west.

Adjacent businesses to the site include the Clatsop Care Memory Community, Safekeeping Storage
Center, and the Oregon State Police. Also adjacent to the site is Highway 101 and Dolphin Ave. which

2

Osburmn Site Development — Impact Study A.M. Engineering

P:\20000 Osburn Plumbing Site Development\Project Docs\Osburn Plumbing Impact Study.docx




both contribute to the outdoor traffic noise that can be heard at the site. Typical outdoor noise generated
by the applicant will be generated by similar traffic.

The proposed business is expected to generate noise comparable to the adjacent businesses, road, and
highway and is consistent with the zoning.

Section 8.0 References

City of Warrenton, Oregon. Warrenton Municipal Code. 1972.
https://qcode. us/codes/warrenton/ Accessed September 2018

Cameron McCarthy Gilbert & Scheibe Landscape Architects and Planners (CMGS) in association with the
University of Oregon’s Community Planning Workshop (CPW) (2010). Warrenton Parks Master Plan.
Eugene, Oregon

Osburn Site Development — Impact Study A.M. Engineering

P:\20000 Osburn Plumbing Site Development\Project Docs\Osburn Plumbing Impact Study.docx



321SW 4th Ave, Suite 400

lancaster Portland, OR 97204
mobley 503.248.0313
Jancastermobley.com

Memorandum

To: Ryan Osbuirn _59946PE

)lipn, A WIS~

From: Melissa Webb, PE
Brian Davis, AICP
Date:  May 5, 2020
Subject: Oshurn Plumbing —Transportation Analysis Letter

[ IRATION DATE: 0] 20]2020)

Introduction

This memoraridum reports and evaluatés the transportation impacts related to the proposed Osourn Plumbing
facility, to be located west of the Clatsop Care Memary Community located at 2219 SE Dolphin Avenue in
Warrenton, Oregon. The proposed project includes the construction of four buildings totalling approximately
40,000 square feet.

The purpose of this memorandum is to examine the projected trip generation of the proposed use, evaluate
multimodal traffic safety within the site’s vicinity, review identified issues or concerns within the City's
Transportation System Plan (TSP) relevant to proposed development, and evaluate other potential issues with
regard to the site access and nearby public intersections according to the guidelines presented in Warrenton
Municipal Code 16:256 Traffic Impact Study.

Project Site Description

The site is located within a commercial-zoned area near the southern edge of the City limits, with industrial
zoning to the north, east, and south, and lake/wetlands zoning to the west. The subject site consists of a single
tax lot (lot 700) which encompasses an approximate total of 4.59 acres and is currently undeveloped. The site
will be served by a single existing driveway onto SE Dolphin Avenue, which currently provides access to the
Clatsop Care Memory Community.

Vicinity Roadways

The proposed development is expected to impact three roadways near the site. Table 1 provides a description
of each of the vicinity roadways.

p— e =0 (BR\1 2 (e
V1S A E \f \‘/f !,

2
| \¥
=\

!
\s U9 9 9pan

RS

4t
L St

R

" VTV OF WARRENTON



Table 1: Roadway Characteristics

Roadway

SE Dolphin
Avenue

US Highway
101 (US-101)

Perkins
Lane

Jurisdiction

City of
Warrenton

OoDOT

City of
Warrenton

Functional
Classification

Local Street

Principal
Arterial/Statewide
Highway

Local Street

Speed
(MPH)

25 Posted

45/55
Posted

25
Statutory

Curbs &
Sidewalks

Partial Both
Sides

Partial Both
Sides

None

On-Street

Parking

Permitted

Not
Permitted

Partially
Permitted

Bicycle
Lanes

None

Both Sides

None

Note: Functional Classification based on City of Warrenton Transportation System Plan (Volume 1 Figure 9) and ODOT
Oregon Highway Plan/Oregon Transportation Map.

Figure 1 presents an aerial image of the nearby vicinity with the project site outlined in yellow.

May 5, 2020
Page2 of 8



Project Location

[R—

v
m
q
=z
2
£
@
=
=
&
4

Figure 1: Project Location (image from Google Maps)

Trip Generation & Distribution

The proposed Osburn Plumbing facility will include the construction of four buildings totalling approximately
40,000 square feet of gross floor area. According to the pre-application notes from March 5%, 2020, the plans
for the proposed use include a contractor warehouse and showroom, as well as other construction and
plumbing businesses. To estimate the number of site trips that will be generated by the proposed development,
trip rates from the Trip Generation Manual " were used. Data from land use code 10, General Light Industrial,
was used to estimate the proposed development's trip generation based on the square footage of the gross
floor area.

The trip generation calculations show that the proposed development is expected to generate 28 trips during
the morning peak hour, 25 trips during the evening peak hour, and 198 trips on a typical weekday. The trip

1nstitute of Transportation Engineers (ITE), Trip Generation Manual, 10™ Edition, 2017

May 5, 2020
Page 3 of 8



generation calculations are summarized in Table 2. Detailed trip generation calculation worksheets are included
as an attachment to this study.

Table 2: Trip Generation Surnmary

Morning Peak Hour  Evening Peak Hour Weekday

Enter Exit Total Enter Exit Total Total
General Light Industrial 110 40,000 SF 25 3 28 3 22 25 198

Trip Distribution
The directional distribution of site trips to/from the project site was estimated based on the locations of likely
trip destinations and location of major transportation facilities in the site vicinity.

The following trip distribution was estimated and used for analysis:

e  Approximately 80 percent of primary site trips will travel to/from the north along SE Dolphin Avenue;
and

o Approximately 20 percent of primary site trips will travel to/from the south along SE Dolphin Avenue.

Safety Analysis

Crash Data Analysis

Using data obtained from the Oregon Department of Transportation’s (ODOT) Crash Data System, a review was
performed for the most recent five years of available crash data (January 2013 through December 2017) along
SE Dolphin Avenue from US-101 to Perkins Lane. The crash data was evaluated based on the number of crashes,
the type of collisions, and the severity of the collisions.

Based on the crash data, there were no reported crashes along SE Dolphin Avenue during the analysis period.

Sight Distance Analysis

Sight distance was evaluated in accordance with the standards established in A Policy of Geometric Design of
Highways and Streets®. According to AASHTO, the driver's eye is assumed to be 15 feet from the near edge of
the nearest travel lane, or travelled way, of the intersecting street and at a height of 3.5 feet above the minor-
street approach pavement. The vehicle driver's eye height along the major-street approach is assumed to be
3.5 feet above the cross-street pavement.

There are two types of sight distance evaluations described by AASHTO. Intersection sight distance (ISD) is the
amount of sight distance necessary for a vehicle along the minor street to enter the intersection without causing
major street traffic to slow excessively, and is thus typically considered an operational metric. Stopping sight

2 American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO), A Policy of Geometric Design of Highways and Streets,

6% Edition, 2011.
May 5, 2020
Page 4 of 8



distance (SSD) is the sight distance necessary for major street vehicles to perceive and react to an entering
minor street vehicle in time to avoid a crash, and is considered the minimum requirement to ensure safe
operation of the driveway.

Based on a posted speed of 25 mph along SE Dolphin Avenue, the minimum required stopping sight distance
to ensure safe operation of the site access onto the roadway is 155 feet to the north and south of the access.
Additionally, the minimum required intersection sight distance for vehicles stopped on the minor-street
approach is 280 feet to the north and south of the access.

The proposed Osburn Plumbing facility will be utilizing an existing driveway for site access which currently
serves the Clatsop Care Memory Community. Based on a review of the surrounding area, adequate SSD is
available to allow safe operation of the existing access onto SE Dolphin Avenue. In addition, ISD at the
intersection can be met if vegetation north of the site access is trimmed to the right-of-way line, which would
ensure maximal efficiency of the access.

Intersection and Access Geometry

Based on the review of the existing nearby transportation infrastructure, as well as a review of sight distance at
the access intersection and crash history along nearby vicinity roadways, no safety issues with regard to the
geometry of nearby intersections and the site access were noted.

Multi-Modal Access and Safety

Motor Vehicles

As described in the Crash Data Analysis section, there were no reported crashes along SE Dolphin Avenue
during the five-year analysis period. Since no crashes were reported, there do not appear to be any trends
indicative of significant safety hazards at the nearby transportation facilities.

With regard to site access via motor vehicles, an existing site access at SE Dolphin Avenue will serve as the main
connection between the site and the greater transportation system (specifically US-101 and Perkins Lane). The
aforementioned roadways will serve as the primary routes of travel between the site and other major
destinations including downtown Warrenton, Astoria, Gearhart, and Seaside.

Based on a review of motor vehicle access and safety, no mitigation pertaining to this specific mode of travel is
necessary or recommended.

Pedestrians
As described in the Crash Data Analysis section, there were no pedestrian-related collisions along the analyzed
roadway segment of SE Dolphin Avenue.

SE Dolphin Avenue is a two-lane roadway that has a posted speed of 25 mph. Referencing traffic counts
collected at the intersection of US Highway 101 at SE Dolphin Avenue on Tuesday, October 30t, 2018, and
Wednesday, October 31, 2018, no more than 83 vehicles (approximately 1to 2 vehicles on average per minute)
were recorded as traveling along SE Dolphin Avenue during the single highest hour of traffic. During this same
hour, no pedestrians and no bicyclists were recorded as traveling along SE Dolphin Avenue.

May 5, 2020
Page 5 of 8



Limited sidewalks are currently in place along portions of SE Dolphin Avenue near the project site, including
along the adjacent property frontage of Clatsop Care Memory Community, as well as along the property
frontages of the Oregon State Police building, Out of Site Storage, and Ben’s Computer Store.

The City of Warrenton'’s pre-application notes dated March 5%, 2020, recommend that thermoplastic crosswalks
be designed and installed between buildings and across driveway entrances (Warrenton Municipal Code
16.210.030.B.3. In addition, the City recommends that a sidewalk be built along SE Dolphin Avenue to access the
new school campus located east of the proposed Osburn Plumbing facility site. There is currently a partial
sidewalk along the eastern border of the property, and we recommend extending this sidewalk to the northern
edge of the property line.

With buildout of the proposed Warrenton-Hammond School District Master Plan project located east of the
proposed Osburn Plumbing facility site, vehicle and pedestrian traffic is likely to increase in the area due to a
new roadway connection between the school and SE Dolphin Avenue. According to the Warrenton-Hammond
School District Master Plan Transportation and Parking Impact Analysis®, a majority of new site trips are expected
to travel to and from US-101 along SE Dolphin Avenue. It is noted that this TIA did not recommend extending
sidewalks to the south along SE Dolphin Avenue due to the low number of residential uses to the south of the
site which could benefit from the installation of a sidewalk.

Due to no reported crashes along SE Dolphin Avenue, the low volumes of pedestrian and motor vehicle traffic,
and a posted speed of 25 mph along SE Dolphin Avenue, the roadway is expected to operate safely with regard
to pedestrian safety. In addition, the proposed Osburn Plumbing facility is not projected to generate significant
volumes of pedestrian traffic, especially when compared to the new school campus.

Based on a review of pedestrian access and safety, no other mitigation to this specific mode of travel is
necessary or recommended beyond the installation of thermoplastic crosswalks between buildings and across
driveway entrances, and the extension of the existing sidewalk to the northern property boundary.

Bicycles
As described in the Crash Data Analysis section, there were no bicycle-related collisions along the analyzed
roadway segment of SE Dolphin Avenue.

Bicycle lanes, which separate bicyclists from motor vehicle traffic, are not provided along the length of SE
Dolphin Avenue, while paved shoulders are available to bicyclists along US-101. For other nearby residential
local streets, traffic volumes are generally low with motor vehicle traffic traveling at low speeds (i.e. SE Dolphin
Avenue and nearby local streets have posted/statutory speeds of 25 mph). Given these vicinity streets may be
considered low-stress roadways, bicyclists may safely and comfortably travel along roadway shoulders and may
safely share the roadway with motor vehicle traffic when necessary.

Based on a review of bicycle access and safety, no mitigation pertaining to this specific mode of travel is
necessary or recommended.

Transit

There are two nearby bus stops that could reasonably serve the site. The first transit stop is located within
approximately 6/10-mile walking/biking distance to the north and serves Route 707 (weekday service between
Astoria and Seaside) and Pacific Connector (weekend service between Astoria and Cannon Beach). To access the

3 Lancaster Mobley, Warrenton-Hammond School District Master Plan Transportation and Parking Impact Analysis, January 10, 2020

May 5, 2020
Page 6 of 8



project site from stop ID 313 and stop ID 302 (“Ensign and 101", transit users may travel southbound from the
stop along US-101 to SE Dolphin Avenue, and then travel southbound on SE Dolphin Avenue to the site.

The second nearby bus stop that could reasonably serve the site is located within approximately 7/10-mile
walking/biking distance to the north and serves Route 75 (weekday service between Warrenton and Hammond),
Route 16 (weekend service between Warrenton and Hammond), and Pacific Connector. To access the project
site from stop ID 312 (“Walmart”), transit users may travel westbound from the stop along SE Ensign Lane, turn
and travel southbound along US-101to SE Dolphin Avenue, and then travel southbound along SE Dolphin
Avenue to the site.

With buildout of the proposed Warrenton-Hammond School District Master Plan project located east of the
proposed Osburn Plumbing facility site, pedestrian facilities will be constructed along the south side of the
proposed east/west roadway connection (located along the north side of the proposed school site) between SE
Dolphin Avenue and Bugle Road. Bugle Road is proposed as a new north/south roadway to provide access
between the proposed schools and SE Ensign Lane. With the addition of these new roadways, transit users will
have additional ways to access transit stops on SE Ensign Lane and US-101.

The available transit services and facilities are sufficient to adequately serve the proposed Osburn Plumbing
facility. Based on a review of transit user access and safety, no mitigation to this specific mode of travel is
necessary or recommended.

Conclusions

e The proposed Osburn Plumbing facility is projected to generate 28 morning peak hour trips, 25
evening peak hour trips, and 198 average weekday trips.

e There were no reported crashes along SE Dolphin Avenue between US Highway 101 and Perkins Lane,
and there do not appear to be any significant safety deficiencies on nearby transportation facilities.
Accordingly, no safety mitigation is necessary or recommended.

e Based on a review of the surrounding area, adequate SSD is available to allow safe operation of the
existing access onto SE Dolphin Avenue. In addition, ISD at the intersection can be met if vegetation
north of the site access is trimmed to the right-of-way line, which would ensure maximal efficiency of
the access.

e Based on the review of the existing nearby transportation infrastructure, as well as a review of sight
distance at the access intersection and crash history along nearby vicinity roadways, no safety issues
with regard to the geometry of nearby intersections and the site access were noted.

o The applicant is proposing installation of thermoplastic crosswalks between buildings and across
driveway entrances, as well as the extension of the existing sidewalk to the northern property boundary
in accordance with feedback from the City. No other mitigations are needed or recommended for
pedestrians.

o Based on a review of bicycle access and safety, no mitigation pertaining to this specific mode of travel
is necessary or recommended.

May 5, 2020
Page 7 of 8



e The available transit services and facilities are sufficient to adequately serve the proposed Osburn
Plumbing facility. Based on a review of transit user access and safety, no mitigation related to this
specific mode of travel is necessary or recommended.

If you have any questions regarding this technical memorandum, please don't hesitate to contact us.

May 5, 2020
Page 8 of 8



PLUMBING

, P

A (
OREGON

RENEWAL DATE: DECEMBER 31, 2021

PRELIMINARY

DRAINAGE REPORT

5/22/20

A.M.

Engineering




Section 1—Introduction and Background
1.0 Introduction and Background

A Preliminary Drainage Report is required by the City of Warrenton for site design
review.

The proposed project is the development of multiple commercial buildings totaling
approximately 39,500 square feet with associated parking, landscaping, and utility
services. The site is approximately 4.5 acres and is located in Warrenton, Oregon. The
development includes a total addition of 2.4 acres of impervious surface and 2.1 acres
of pervious surface.

In addition to the proposed development, an adjacent site has an existing stormwater
conveyance system on the proposed lot. The Warrenton Memory Care Storm Drainage
Calculations dated 9/10/13 by CKI provides existing stormwater data referenced in this
preliminary report. See Appendix B.

Vehicular access for the site is from Dolphin Avenue east of the site through the
adjacent lot via an easement.

1

Osbum Site Development — Preliminary Stormwater Management Plan A.M. Engineering

P:\20000 Osburn Plumbing Site Development\Project Docs\Osburn Site Development Preliminary Drainage Report.doc




Section 2—Site Configuration and Layout
2.0 Site Configuration and Layout
2.1 Site Layout

The subject property is located in Warrenton, Oregon, Township 8 North, Range 10
West, Section 33 Willamette Meridian. The latitude and longitude coordinates for the
site are 46.14° north latitude and 123.92° west longitude. The subject property is
located approximately 1,300 feet south of the Highway 101 and S.E. Dolphin Avenue
intersection.

2.2 Site Configuration

The subject property has a total area of approximately 4.5 acres and is bordered by
commercial properties to the north and south, industrial to the east and Highway 101 to
the west. The Skipanon River is located approximately 300 feet to the southwest.

A preliminary topographic survey of the site completed by CKI Land Surveying, not
dated, indicates the existing ground slopes gently to the north where the slopes steepen
to the existing drainage. The proposed buildings have approximate finish floor elevation
of 34 — 35 feet NGVD29, and will cover approximately 39,500 square feet.

The overall existing site drainage pattern to the Skipanon watershed is not expected to
be affected.

2

Osburn Site Development ~ Preliminary Stormwater Management Plan A.M. Engineering

P:\20000 Osburn Plumbing Site Development\Project Docs\Osburn Site Development Preliminary Drainage Report.doc




Section 3—Site Characteristics

3.0Site Characteristics

The stormwater management approach is based on the 24 hour 100-year storm.
3.1 Typical Rainfall Data

The site is located in Warrenton, Oregon and is in close proximity to the Skipanon River.
The 100 year, 24 hour precipitation depth reported by CKl is 6.25” and will be used for
the calculations for the proposed lot.

Northwest Oregon rainfall patterns are consistent with a Type 1A precipitation
distribution. The storm depth is presented in Table 1. The precipitation events are used
with the Type 1A distribution to determine peak flow and runoff volumes in accordance
with the Santa Barbara Urban Hydrograph (SBUH) Method.

Design Storm Return Period Depth (inches)
100-year *6.25
The 100 year, 24 hour precipitation depth reported by CKi, 2013.

3.2Existing Site Hydrology

The site is composed of 4.5 acres of undeveloped upland area. Surface runoff travels
from south to the north.

3.3 Proximity to a Major Water Body

The City of Warrenton does not require detention of stormwater at this site due to the
close proximity to the Skipanon River.

3

Osburn Site Development — Preliminary Stormwater Management Plan A.M. Engineering

P:\20000 Osburn Plumbing Site Development\Project Docs\Osburn Site Development Preliminary Drainage Report.doc




Section 3—Site Characteristics
Continued

3.4Curve Number

Runoff Curve Numbers (CN) for impervious and pervious surfaces were selected in the
HydroCAD Stormwater Modeling software. A summary of the runoff curve numbers is
provided in Table 2.

Site Category Cover Type gz:rglr?)?:; CUWTCNNL;m ber
Adjacent | Impervious Area Asphalt and building roof D 98

Site Pervious Area Lawn good cond. D 86
Proposed | Impervious Area Asphalt and building roof D 98

Site Pervious Area 75% Grass cover, Good, HSG D D 80

3.5Time of Concentration

The time of concentration value used for the Proposed Site developed drainage basins
was five minutes, which is a conservative estimate for the small drainage basins in
these developments, and the minimum time that should be used when applying the
SBUH method.

4

Osburmn Site Development — Preliminary Stormwater Management Plan A.M. Engineering

P:\20000 Osburn Plumbing Site Development\Project Docs\Osburn Site Development Preliminary Drainage Report.doc




Appendix B

A.M.

Engineering



Section 4—Proposed Site Drainage Plan

4.0 Proposed Site Drainage Plan

The Santa Barbara Urban Hydrograph (SBUH) analysis method, simulated in
HydroCAD, was used to determine the amount of stormwater generated from the
proposed surfaces created by the site development. Peak flow rates and volumes were
analyzed for the 100-year storm event.

Table 3 details the parameters used to determine peak runoff rates and volumes of the
drainage basin.

Category Drainage Basins (DB)
Impervious Area (square feet) 77,500
NRCS Curve Number 98
Area (square feet) 4,530

Adjacent | Pervious NRCS Curve Number 86

Site Total Area (square feet) | 82,030
Time of Concentration 5
(min)
. Area (square feet) 104,544 (Approximately)
Impervious NRCS Curve Number 98
Area (square feet) 91,476 (Approximately)

Proposed | Pervious

. NRCS Curve Number 80
Site

Total Area (square feet) | 196,020 (Approximately)
Time of Concentration 5
(min)

4.1Drainage Descriptions

4.1.1 Adjacent Site Drainage Basin

Adjacent Site — This basin covers the existing pervious and impervious areas of the
adjacent site that contributes to the proposed property. Data has been taken from the

CKI calculations mention previously.

4.1.2 Proposed Site Drainage Basin

5

Osbum Site Development — Preliminary Stormwater Management Plan A.M. Engineering

P:\20000 Osburn Plumbing Site Development\Project Docs\Osburn Site Development Preliminary Drainage Report.doc




Section 4—Proposed Site Drainage Plan
Continued

Proposed Site — This basin covers the proposed pervious and impervious areas. Onsite
stormwater runoff is directed to the onsite conveyance system. The stormwater is then
conveyed to the Highway 101 right of way ditch and then on to the Skipanon River.

4.2 Summary
The SBUH Method was used to calculate peak runoff volumes and flow rates for the

100-year rainfall event. Table 4 summarizes the peak flow rates and volumes by
Drainage Basin. See Appendix A for supporting HydroCAD Program Output.

R ek et s UH

CKI Report
Drainage Basins (DB) Proposed Site Adjacent Site Total
100-yr Peak Flow (cfs) 5.66 2.76 8.42
100-yr Runoff Volume (ft) 67,344 31,973 99,317
6
Osbumn Site Development — Preliminary Stormwater Management Plan A.M. Engineering

P:\20000 Osburn Plumbing Site Development\Project Docs\Osburn Site Development Preliminary Drainage Report.doc




Appendices

A.M.

Engineering



Appendix A

AM.

Engineering



WAME-NAS\Projects\20000 Osburn Plumbing Site Developmenf\Stormwater\

Osburn Plumbing Type IA 24-hr 100 year Rainfall=6.25"
Prepared by A.M. Engineering Printed 05/22/20 8:25:09 am
HydroCAD® 10.00-24 s/n M17343 © 2018 HydroCAD Software Solutions LLC Page 1

Time span=5.00-20.00 hrs, dt=0.05 hrs, 301 points
Runoff by SBUH method, Split Pervious/Imperv.
Reach routing by Dyn-Stor-Ind method - Pond routing by Dyn-Stor-Ind method

SubcatchmentA1: Proposed Runoff Area=4.500 ac  53.33% Impervious Runoff Depth>4.12"
Tc=5.0 min CN=80/98 Runoff=5.66 cfs 1.546 af

SubcatchmentA2: Existing Runoff Area=82,030 sf 94.48% Impervious Runoff Depth>4.68"
Tc=5.0 min CN=86/98 Runoff=2.76 cfs 0.734 af

Reach 2R: Outfall Inflow=8.42 cfs 2.280 af
Outflow=8.42 cfs 2.280 af

Total Runoff Area = 6.383 ac Runoff Volume = 2.280 af Average Runoff Depth = 4.29"
34.53% Pervious = 2.204 ac  65.47% Impervious = 4.179 ac




\\AME-NAS\Projects\20000 Osburn Plumbing Site Development\Stormwater\
Osburn Plumbing Type IA 24-hr 100 year Rainfall=6.25"

Prepared by A.M. Engineering Printed 05/22/20 8:25:09 am

HydroCAD® 10.00-24 s/n M17343 © 2018 HydroCAD Software Solutions LLC Page 2
Summary for Subcatchment A1: Proposed
Runoff = 566cfs@ 7.92 hrs, Volume= 1.546 af, Depth> 4.12"
Runoff by SBUH method, Split Pervious/Imperv., Time Span= 5.00-20.00 hrs, dt= 0.05 hrs
Type IA 24-hr 100 year Rainfall=6.25"
Area (ac) CN Description
* 2400 98 Asphalt and building roof
2100 80 >75% Grass cover, Good, HSG D
4500 90 Weighted Average
2.100 46.67% Pervious Area
2.400 53.33% Impervious Area
Tc Length Slope Velocity Capacity Description
(min)  (feet) (f/ft)  (ft/sec) (cfs)
5.0 Direct Entry,
Subcatchment A1: Proposed
Hydrograph
.
: Type IA 24-hr
5 100 year Rainfall=6.25"
] Runoff Area=4.500 ac
] Runoff Volume=1.546 af
g Runoff Depth>4.12"
2z 4] .
O Tc=5.0 min
| CN=80/98
2_.
.
R

L B e e e e e B R B B | B R S [ L S B B TR i i T B S B 2 s R i ey e e

—
8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20
Time (hours)



\AME-NAS\Projects\20000 Osburn Plumbing Site Development\Stormwater\

Osburn Plumbing Type IA 24-hr 100 year Rainfall=6.25"
Prepared by A.M. Engineering Printed 05/22/20 8:25:09 am
HydroCAD® 10.00-24 s/n M17343 © 2018 HydroCAD Software Solutions LLC Page 3

Summary for Subcatchment A2: Existing

Runoff = 276cfs@ 7.90 hrs, Volume= 0.734 af, Depth> 4.68"

Runoff by SBUH method, Split Pervious/Imperv., Time Span= 5.00-20.00 hrs, dt= 0.05 hrs
Type 1A 24-hr 100 year Rainfall=6.25"

Area (sf) CN __ Description
77,500 98 Asphalt and building roof

* 4,530 86 lawn good cond.
82,030 97 Weighted Average
4,530 5.52% Pervious Area
77,500 94.48% Impervious Area

Tc Length Slope Velocity Capacity Description
__(min) _ (feet) (ft/ft)  (ft/sec) (cfs)

5.0 Direct Entry,

Subcatchment A2: Existing
Hydrograph

Type IA 24-hr

100 year Rainfall=6.25"
Runoff Area=82,030 sf
Runoff Volume=0.734 af
Runoff Depth>4.68"
Tc=5.0 min

CN=86/98

Flow (cfs)

c"‘l" i L L IR | L L NE L L JL R A L T L N N N e [ e T o o B I e B It s o i |
5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20
Time (hours)



WAME-NAS\Projects\20000 Osburn Plumbing Site Development\Stormwater\

Osburn Plumbing Type IA 24-hr 100 year Rainfall=6.25"
Prepared by A.M. Engineering Printed 05/22/20 8:25:09 am
HydroCAD® 10.00-24 s/n M17343 © 2018 HydroCAD Software Solutions LLC Page 4

Summary for Reach 2R: Outfall

Inflow Area = 6.383 ac, 65.47% Impervious, Inflow Depth > 4.29" for 100 year event
Inflow = 842cfs@ 7.91 hrs, Volume= 2.280 af
Outflow = 842cfs@ 7.91 hrs, Volume= 2.280 af, Atten=0%, Lag= 0.0 min

Routing by Dyn-Stor-Ind method, Time Span= 5.00-20.00 hrs, dt= 0.05 hrs

Reach 2R: Outfall
Hydrograph

B Inflow
M Outflow

Inflow Area=6.383 ac

Flow (cfs)
[4,]
|

G | LN | N ML LIS A | LR LN TR O A (LI i 2 i | L R LR IR i St A L S R #8 R LI
5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 1'3 14 15 16 17 18 19 20
Time (hours)




TRIP GENERATION CALCULATIONS

Land Use: General Light Industrial

Land Use Code: 110

Setting/Location General Urban/Suburban

AM PEAK HOUR
Trip Rate: 0.70

Variable: 1,000 Square Feet of Gross Floor Area
Variable Quantity: 40

PM PEAK HOUR
Trip Rate: 0.63

Enter | Exit | Tota
Directional o 6
Distribution 88% | 12%
Trip Ends 25 3 28
WEEKDAY
Trip Rate: 4.96
Enter [ Exit | Totd
Directional o o
Distribution 0% | 90%
Trip Ends 99 99 198

Enter | Exit | Total
Directional o 5
Distribution 13% | 8%
Trip Ends 3 22 25
SATURDAY
Trip Rate: 1.99
Enter [ Exit | Tota
Directional 5 5
Distribution 50% | 0%
Trip Ends 40 40 80

Source: TRIP GENERATION, Tenth Edition




CKI

LAND SURVEYING
CIVIL ENGINEERING

PO Box 309 Seaside, OR 97138
Ph: 503 738 4320 Fax: 503 738 7854

Warrenton Memory Care
Storm Drainage Calculations

For Steve Olstedt
September 10, 2013

Prepared By:
CKi
Dean Keranen, PE
3647 Hwy 101 N Gearhart, OR 97138
PO Box 309 Seaside, OR 97138
Ph: 503 738 4320 Fax: 503 738 7854

INDEX
Description Page
NAITALIVE .......oreeressnessesssesenessemssesssssssessssssessssssssssssssesssessssssssssesssssses 2
Storm Drainage Calculations .............cmesmessssssessssssesssssesens 3-4
Hydrograph Modeling Results............coocmmmemmmsmesssessssesssssens 5
On-Site Pipe Sizing and Basin Map ..........ccccoeoememreeesnerensanesens 6-9
Soils Map, Hydrologic Group and Curve Numbers _................... 10-14
Time of Concentration spreadsheets............ceesmeemssssesnn 15-16
SCS Curve NUMbETs, ..........cooceeuresecnsnessessssrsssesssessssesssesssssssssssesens 17

S:\Land Projects 2004\12-020-Topo-Olstedt-Dolph RENEWAL DATE: 6/30/2015 Page 10of 17




CKI Land Surveying and Civil Engineering

NARRATIVE

These calculations are for runoff flows and the pipe sizing for the Warrenton Memory Care on
Dolphin Avenue in Warrenton.

The runoff flows were calculated using the unit hydrograph method and the King County
Hydrograph program.

The pipe sizing was calculated using the Rational method.

S:\Land Projects 2004\12-020-Topo-Olstedt-Dolphin\Docs\Stormcalc.doc Page 20of 17




CKI Land Surveying and Civil Engineering

STORM DRAINAGE CALCULATIONS

RAINFALL

From the NOAA Precipitation Frequency Atlas 2, Volume X, Figures 25-30

Storm Frequency Rainfall
100 year, 24 hour 6.25"
50 year, 24 hour 5.75"
25 year, 24 hour 5.25”
10 year, 24 hour 4.50”
5 year, 24 hour 4.00”
2 year, 24 hour 3.50”

SOILS

From the USDA Soil Survey of Clatsop County, Oregon, the soils are number 71B, a Walluski
Silt Loam which belongs to the hydrologic group “C".

AREAS AND CURVE NUMBERS

Areas were found using AutoCAD

Total Site Pre-developed
Pre-developed:
Pervious = 303,187 sf = 6.96 acres CN = 85 (meadow or pasture)

Impervious = 0.00 sf = 0.00 acres CN = 98 (conc, ac, roofs)
Development Area (includes proposed buildings, hard surfaces and landscaping)

Pervious = 4,530 sf = 0.10 acres CN = 86 (lawn good cond.)

Impervious = 72,853 sf = 1.67 acres CN = 98 (conc, ac, roofs)

Undeveloped Portion of Site
Pervious = 230,334 sf = 5.29 acres CN = 85 (meadow or pasture)
Impervious = 0.00 sf = 0.00 acres CN = 98 (conc, ac, roofs)

S:\Land Projects 2004\12-020-Topo-Olstedt-Dolphin\Dacs\Stormcalc.doc Page 3of 17




CKI Land Surveying and Civil Engineering

TIME OF CONCENTRATION
0.42)[(Ns)(L)]**
c= (0A2)(NSXE) For Overland flow (max 300’)
(})2 )0.5 (SO )0.4
(L)

For Shallow Concentrated Flow

Tc=""_
(60)(k+/S,)

Pre-developed Tc for entire site
L = Flow length = 609’ (300’ overland, 309’ shallow concentrated flow)
Ns = 0.15 (short prairie grass)
P2 = 2 year rainfall = 3.5”
So = Slope = 1.58% overland, 6.00% concentrated
K = velocity factor = 9 (high grass)

Tc = 27.1 minutes (see spreadsheet printout)
Developed Tc for undeveloped portion of site
L = Flow length = 519’ (300’ overland, 219’ shallow concentrated flow)
Ns = 0.15 (short prairie grass)
P2 = 2 year rainfall = 3.5”
So = Slope = 2.15% overland, 7.42% concentrated
K = velocity factor = 9 (high grass)
Tc = 23.4 minutes (see spreadsheet printout)

Developed Tc = 5 minutes (minimum)

S:\Land Projects 2004\12-020-Topo-Olstedt-Dolphin\Docs\Stormcale.doc Page 4 of 17




CKI Land Surveying and Civil Engineering

HYDROGRAPH MODELING RESULTS

Since a large portion of the site is remaining undeveloped, the site was broken down into the
developed and undeveloped In order to accurately model the runoffs for pre and post
development scenarios. Column 1 below represents each of the rainfall events. Column 2 is
the portion of the site that is not being developed. Column three is the development site in its
undeveloped state. Column 4 is the development site in its developed state. Column 5 on the
right is the remainder of the site and even though that portion will remain the same it is included
because the time of concentration for the remainder of the site decreases due to the developed
parcel. All flows were found using the King County Hydrograph program.

1 2 3 4 5
Storm Remainder Site | Development site [ Development | Undeveloped
Undeveloped Undeveloped site Developed | Remainder of
(cfs) (cfs) (cfs) site (cfs)

100 yr 4.72 1.49 2.76 4.99

50 yr 4.21 1.33 2.54 4.44

25 yr 3.69 1.17 2.31 3.91

10 yr 2.93 0.93 1.98 3.11

5yr 2.44 0.77 1.75 2.58

2yr 1.95 0.62 1.53 2.07

The following table represents the pre and post development flows for the entire site. The
predeveloped flows are the sum of columns 2 and 3 in the above table and the post-developed
flows are the sum of columns 4 and 5 in the table above.

Total Site Pre and Post Development

Storm Predeveloped Developed
100 yr 6.21 cfs 7.75 cfs
50 yr 5.54 cfs 6.94 cfs
25 yr 4.86 cfs 6.22 cfs
10 yr 3.86 cfs 5.09 cfs
5yr 3.21 cfs 4.33 cfs
2yr 2.57 cfs 3.60 cfs

S:ALand Projects 2004\12-020-Topo-Olstedt-Dolphin\Docs\Stormealc.doc

Page 5 of 17




CKI Land Surveying and Civil Engineering

ON SITE PIPE SIZING

Due the various basins and roof areas for the site the onsite pipe sizing was performed using
the Rational Method and a spreadsheet. The following summarizes the calculations for the
building collection system.

Using the rational method

Rational method: Q = CIA

Q = Flow rate in cfs

C = dimensionless runoff coefficient from ODOT hydraulics manual

| = rainfall intensity in inches/hour

A = drainage area in acres

See the following spreadsheets and the Basin Map to identify the pipe sizes and locations

On the spreadsheet, the first column shows the Basin identification. The areas shown in green
are for the pervious areas and the areas shown in blue are the impervious areas.

S\Land Projects 2004\1 2-020-Topo-Olstedt-Dolphin\Docs\Stormealc.doc Page 6 of 17




MO 6L2 20 00100 00L [o0L0'0  OF 00t 0010°0 S 6l'c
Molero |8g¥ |oosoo or |8Ls00 |r & looLo0 €70 £r0 (710 /865 0S'E 060 S )
| | | | | 000 {000 0 05°€E G20 S
MO 6l¢C 20 0010°0 00+ [v9000 OF A3 0010°0 [Z SL'L
ojgs0 |gge 00400 09 |sts00 ¥ & 00100 €70 €r0  v10 /865 0S'E 060 S ]
| | 000|000 0 0S°€ 520 5
MO I} 067 0020°0 08 [02i00 8 €8 00100 € 2eL
Mot |ore |ootoo 0 |oz000 |g 97 00100 pes| G0'L 860 |1£0 68GE | 05°€ 060 S ¥
| _ | 20018070 585¢e 05°e 520 g
M0 95°0 98T 0010°0 09 |96L00 ¥ S 0010°0 3 120
MoleLo |sLe |ootoo ot |eoooo |r 6L lootoo pes) €00 000 1000 0 0S'€ 060 S r
| | | | €00 |00 /821 05 520 5
O 610 81'c 001L0°0 0y [09100 ¥ (&2 0010°0 3 ¥2'0
MoleLo 8Lz 00100 or logtoo |» v 00400 pes) ¥e0 »20 1800 92ee 0S°E 060 S I
000 {00°0 0 0S°E G20 S
MO sjo sdj un ul My ul ul un # SP sjo seioe I bs dyar [ uiw
siadid | (moy iny) | (Mo Iny) | pasn pasn adojg | Jejewelq | Jejewelq | edojg adid | [B®I0LD 0 4 v | 0 oL | Jequnp
O<lrerep | reAep | Audojep | edojg ‘weig 2dojs :puld Jsjowelq :puld (Pouis\ [euoney) ealy
pasn ado|S pue Jsjewelq adld Jejowelq :UaAiD ado|S :uanID), suole[nofey Jouny Jamas wiois abeureiqg

Page 7 of 17



MO0 89/} 227 06200 0GF [|pZ000 Gl Yl 00100 z 956G T 1
“ _ “ 6L'c_ 12198yg wolj [ejo L 3NITHLHON
MO0 95°€ ¥SY 001070 02 |06000 2t gLl 00100 9 .8°¢
Mo|srL |95z |00z00 09 |¥e900 |9 98 lootoo pes| 8v'l 21 w0 8/68 1} 05°E 060 g 4
| | | | L0 1210 Gees 05°€ G20 G
MO 612 20 00100 00F [G2000 OF 6 0010°0 S 681
| | | 170 170 |E10 1195 0S°E 060 S 3
| | | 000 [00°0 0 0S'€ G20 5
MO 612 207 00100 00F [9¥000 OF 98 00100 2 sr'L
Molgso |9gz |ootoo 09 |g9z000 |9 Ly 00100 pes| 820 920 |80°0 029¢ 0S°E 060 S a
| | | 200 |€0°0 PSLL 05°E G20 g
MO ik or'e 00100 08 |66000 @ 08 00L0°0 € (4
| | | | | 170 17’0 |eL0 7195 0S¢ 060 S o)
| | | 1 [ 000 (000 0 05'€ G20 B
0 I2'h ove 0010°0 08 |ep000 @ 89 0010°0 3 6,0
Molszo |ese |ogLoo 09 |ezt00 |9 29 |ootoo pes| A 2.0 820 2100} 05°E 060 S q
j | | | €00 |00 L0E L 05 g2 0 g
M0 950 98'g 00100 09 |00000 © (43 0010°0 ¥ 700
MoleLo 8Lz 00100 or |rpoo00 |¥ 44 00100 pes| ¥0°0 000|000 0 0S'E 060 S v
»00 |¥0°0 $061 05°E G20 5
MO Sjo sd} uu ul um ul ul # S0 SJo saloe 'Y ‘bs ay/un e uiw
siadid | (moy [iny) | (Mo Ing) | pesn pasn adojg | Jejewel( | Jejewelg adid [eloL O 0 v v | 0 91 | Jequnp
O<ierep | reAep | Auoojep | edojg ‘weig 5do|S “puld 18joWe [ (Poyiap [euoney) ealy
pasn ado|s pue Jajawelq adid Jsjawelq usAln ados :uann suolje|nofen youny Jomas wuols abeureiq
€100 .U, Bujuuepy M1a :Ag-oeo
g2 Jeak wioig ubiseqg 020-c}  ‘ON qof
L duoz 1040, aren fowspy uiydjog  :109loid

suonenajes adid Jemas wiols poylspy [euoney

Page 8 of 17



NOLLYOd Q3dOT3AIANN
/ A ¥04) a3doianag —=7
7
. \ '
™ e, 3d0T3AIqTd — =\ szief
~ s « ~
. 2
o A .
. A s
1 e A )
- O

[dVdD ///‘-./. R — -

/.
[-14 0 \%

\ o/
DN v/

\ rwo
- NS




USDA
sl
O

United States
Department of
Agriculture

NRCS

Natural
Resources
Conservation
Service

A product of the National
Cooperative Soil Survey,
a joint effort of the United
States Department of
Agriculture and other
Federal agencies, State
agencies including the
Agricultural Experiment
Stations, and local
participants

{ O I D I I B €000 7t

Custom Soil Resource

Report for

Clatsop County,

Oregon

Page 10 of 17
September 6, 2013




#BSOM NOT BUOZ WL 00 96pT HBSOM ISTJEUIPIOMD JAWoD) JAIES|N GO :uomsafod dep
00€ 00¢ 001 05 0

09 0€ ST 0

EBQ\LE

"199ys (,5'8 X ,TT) ededspue] y uo paquud J 06¢'T:T :9[eds de

V24: 744 06982y 09982y
N.6T 8 oSt

N~
ne
Y
o
-~
~—
%
©
o

(189 Mowsyy ulydjoqg) dnois ji0g o1bojolpAH—dey
Hodsay 901n0say |I0S wojsh)




uaniag aa L o
T { ot il e | H H Ed
Buiyiys Joujw awos ‘}nsal e sy ‘sdew asay) uo pakejdsip A1abew

punoibyoeq ayj wouy siayip Alqeqoid pazyibip pue pajidwod

alam sauj| |10S 8y} yaiym uo dew aseq Jayjo Jo ojoydoypo ay |

oloz
‘11 190—010zZ ‘g Inp  :paydeibojoyd aiam sabew |euse (s)syeq

‘1861e| 10
000°0S: | Se|eas dew Joj (smojje soeds se) pajage| aJe sjiun dew 108

Z10Z ‘21 Bny ‘g uoisiap,  :ejeq ealy Aaaing
uobaiQ ‘Ajunoy dosie|n  :ealy ASaIng |loS

*MOjaq Pa)s] (S)a1ep uoisIaA ay)
10 se ejep payiued SOUN-YASN a3 woly pajesauab sijonpoud siy L

‘palinbai ale eale 10 aouejsIp JO suoljejndjes

9)eIndoe aioul Ji pasnh aq pjnoys ‘uoijosfoid o1uod eale-jenba siaqy
ay} se yons ‘eale saniasald jey) uonosfold v "eale pue asuejsip
spojsip Jng adeys pue uonoalp sanasald yoym ‘uonosfosd
10}B2I3|N\ g3\ 9Y} Uo paseq ale ASAINS [10S gapA By} wolj sdepy

(268€:D8d3) JojedIdy gop  ‘wiB)sAg sjeulpiood
Aob epsn-soiurAaninsjiosgamy:dpy TN ASANg 108 gapA
S0IAI9S UOIJBAISSUOD) S30IN0SaY |einjeN  :dejy jo 82inos

‘sjuswainseaw
dew Joj }98ys dew yoeas uo ajeas Jeq ay) uo Aja1 ases|d

"9|B9S Pa|IE}ap SI0W B Je UMOYS U3 aABY P|noo jey) sjios
Buiysesuod Jo seale |jews sy} moys jou op sdew ay] ‘juswaoejd
auj| jios jo Aoeinooe pue Guiddew Jo lejep 8y} Jo Buipue)siapunsiw
asned ueo Buiddew jo sjeoas ay) puoAaq sdew jo Juswabiejuy

*9]eos SIy} 1 pijeA aq jou Aew dey [0S :Buiuiepp

'000'02: | 1e paddew a1am |OV JnoA asudwod jey) sAsains |10s sy

NOILVINHOSNI dVIN

ad
g
av

v
sjulod Buney j108

S|gejieAe Jou JO pajel jJoN & ¥

q
=
0 whe
Qg =
g
ay
Aydeibojoyd [euay B Y e
punoibyoeg saur Bupey Jiog
SPECY [E207 sjqejierejou o pajerjoN [ |
speoy Jofepy a _H_
sanoy sn o [
sAemybiH aje)siaju] o 2 _||I_
ey ae [
uoneuodsues |
s [O
sleue) pue sweays
sainjead 1ajepm av [
slqejieae jou o pajesjoN L ” M ]
suoBfjod Buney jios
« @ si10s
ao B (lov)iseseioeary [
o O (lov) 1sa1a3u 0 eaty
aN3o317 dVIN

Hoday soinosay |I0S wosny

Page 12 of 17



Table—Hydrologic Soil Group (Dolphin Memory Care)

Custom Soil Resource Report

~Hydrologic Soil Group— Summary by Map Unit — Clatsop County, Oregon (OR007)

 Mapunitsymbol |  Map unit name _ Rating _ AcresinAOI _Percent of AOI

6A Brallier mucky peat, 0to 1 | B/D 0.0 0.0%
percent slopes

71B Walluski silt loam,0to 7 |C 6.9 100.0%
percent slopes

Totals for Area of Interest 6.9 100.0%

Rating Options—Hydrologic Soil Group (Dolphin Memory Care)

Aggregation Method: Dominant Condition
Component Percent Cutoff: None Specified
Tie-break Rule: Higher

Page 13 of 17




Custom Soil Resource Report

71B—Walluski silt loam, 0 to 7 percent slopes

Map Unit Setting
Elevation: 20 to 300 feet
Mean annual precipitation: 80 to 100 inches
Mean annual air temperature: 49 to 52 degrees F
Frost-free period: 160 to 300 days

Map Unit Composition
Walluski and similar soils: 80 percent
Minor components: 5 percent

Description of Walluski

Setting
Landform: Stream terraces, fluviomarine terraces
Landform position (three-dimensional): Riser, tread
Down-slope shape: Linear
Across-slope shape: Linear
Parent material: Mixed alluvium and/or fluviomarine deposits derived from
sedimentary rock

Properties and qualities

Slope: 0 to 7 percent

Depth to restrictive feature: More than 80 inches

Drainage class: Moderately well drained

Capacity of the most limiting layer to transmit water (Ksat): Moderately low to
moderately high (0.06 to 0.57 in/hr)

Depth to water table: About 27 to 36 inches

Frequency of flooding: None

Frequency of ponding: None

Available water capacity: Very high (about 13.6 inches)

Interpretive groups
Farmland classification: Farmland of statewide importance
Land capability classification (irrigated): 3e
Land capability (nonirrigated): 2e
Hydrologic Soil Group: C
Other vegetative classification: Sitka spruce/oxalis, swordfern-moist (902), Sitka
spruce/salmonberry-wet (903), Western hemlock/oxalis-swordfern-moist (1907)

Typical profile
0 to 2 inches: Slightly decomposed plant material
2 to 13 inches: Medial silt loam
13 to 27 inches: Silty clay loam
27 to 36 inches: Silty clay loam
36 to 62 inches: Silty clay loam

Page 14 of 17




DEVELOPED Time of Concentration Total
Undeveloped Portion of Site Tc
(min)
23.4
TIME OF CONCENTRATION CALCULATIONS
Overland Flow (max 300' total) total
Tc = 21.9 21.9|= travel time for less than 300’ (min)
Ns = 0.15 = Manning's coefficient (sheet flow
L= 300 300]= flow length (ft) |
P2 = 3.5 = 2-year, 24 hour rainfall (in)
So = 2.15% = slope of the land (%)
Shallow Concentrated Flow (after initial 300') total
T= 1.5 1.5|= travel time for sheet flow (min)
L= 219 219|= flow length (ft) 1
So = 7.42% = slope of the land (%)
k = 9 = time of concentration velocity factor (ft/s)
Flow in Swales total
Tc = 0.00 0.0)= travel time in swale (min)
A= 6.00 = area of flow (sf)
R = 0.59 = hydraulic radius (ft)
Ls = 4.12 = side slope wet (ft)
= 3.12 = quantity of flow (ft*3/sec)
= 0.52 = velocity |
= 0 0]= flow length (ft)
Ve = 1 = vertical distance of side
Ho = 4 = horizontal distance of side
Bw = 24 = base width of swale (in)
= 12 = depth of flow ESTIMATE (in)
S= 1.00% = slope of the swale (%)
n= 0.2 = Manning's coefficient (channel)
Flow in gutters total
Tc = 0.0 0.0|= travel time in gutter (min)
1.0 = average velocity of flow (ft/sec)
Q= 0.04 = quantity of flow (ft"3/sec)
S = 2.00% = street longitudinal slope (%)
Sx = 2.00% = sireet cross slope (%)
T= 2 = width of flow in the gutter ESTIMATE (ft)
n= 0.018 = Manning's coefficient (pavement = 0.018)
L= 0 0]= length of flow (ft)
Flow in pipes total
Tc = 0.0 0.0|= travel time in gutter (min)
V= 4.59 = calculated velocity pipe full (ft/sec)
Q= 0.90 = quantity of flow (ft"3/sec)
n= 0.013 = Manning's coefficient (pipe)
D= 6 = pipe diameter (in)
S= 0.50% = slope of pipe (%)
L= 0.0 0|= length of pipe (ft)

Time of Concentration.xls

Page 15 of 17



PREDEVELOPED Time of Concentration Total
Entire Site Tc
(min)
27.1
TIME OF CONCENTRATION CALCULATIONS
Overland Flow (max 300’ total) total
Tc = 24.8 24.8|= travel time for less than 300’ (min)
Ns = 0.15 = Manning's coefficient (sheet flow
L= 300 300|= flow length (ft) !
P2 = 3.5 = 2-year, 24 hour rainfall (in)
So = 1.58% = slope of the land (%
Shallow Concentrated Flow (after initial 300") total
T= 2.3 2.3|= travel time for sheet flow (min)
L= 309 309|= flow length (ft) |
So = 6.00% = slope of the land (%)
K = 9 = time of concentration velocity factor (ft/s)
Flow in Swales total
Tc = 0.00 0.0|= travel time in swale (min)
A= 6.00 = area of flow (sf)
R = 0.59 = hydraulic radius (ft)
Ls = 4.12 = side slope wet (ft)
Q= 3.12 = quantity of flow (ft*3/sec)
V= 0.52 = velocity |
L= 0 0|= flow length (ft)
Ve = 1 = vertical distance of side
Ho = 4 = horizontal distance of side
Bw = 24 = base width of swale (in)
D= 12 = depth of flow ESTIMATE (in)
S= 1.00% = slope of the swale (%)
n= 0.2 = Manning's coefficient (channel)
Flow in gutters total
Tc = 0.0 0.0|=travel time in gutter (min)
1.0 = average velocity of flow (ft/sec)
Q= 0.04 = quantity of flow (ft"3/sec)
S = 2.00% = street longitudinal slope (%)
Sx = 2.00% = street cross slope (%)
T= 2 = width of flow in the gutter ESTIMATE (f)
n= 0.018 = Manning's coefficient (pavement = 0.018)
L= 0 0]= length of flow (ft)
Flow in pipes total
Tc = 0.0 0.0|= travel time in gutter (min)
V= 4.59 = calculated velocity pipe full (ft/sec)
Q= 0.90 = quantity of flow (ft"3/sec)
n= 0.013 = Manning's coefficient (pipe)
D= 6 = pipe diameter (in)
S= 0.50% = slope of pipe (%)
L= 0.0 0}= length of pipe (ft)

Time of Concentration.xls

Page 16 of 17



SCS RUNOFF CURVE NUMBERS (CN)
For Selected Land Uses

RUNOFF CURVE NUMBERS (CN)

BY HYDROLOGIC SOIL GROUP
LAND USE DESCRIPTION A B C D
Cultivated land (1): winter condition 86 91 94 95
Mountain open areas: low growing brush and grasslands 74 82 89 92
Meadow or pasture: 65 78 85 89
Wood or forest land: undisturbed or older second growth 42 64 76 81
Wood or forest land: young second growth or brush 55 72 81 86
Orchard: with cover crop 81 88 92 94
Open spaces, lawns, parks, golf courses, cemetaries, landscaping
Good condition: grass cover on 75% 68 80 86 90
or more of the area
Fair condition: grass cover on 50% 77 85 90 92
to 75% of the area
Gravel roads and parking lots 76 85 89 91
Dirt Roads and parking lots 72 82 87 89
Impervious surfaces: pavement, roof, etc. 98 98 98 98
Open water bodies: lakes, wetlands, ponds, etc. 100 100 100 100

Single Family Residential (2)
Dwelling Unit/Gross Acre (DU/GA)

1.0
2.0
3.0
4.0
5.0
6.0
7.0

% Impervious (3)

15
25
34
42
48
52
56

Select separate curve numbers
for the pervious and impervious
portion of the site or basin.

Planned unit developments, condominiums,
apartments, commercial businesses
and industrial areas.

Use actual
impervious area.

(1) Detailed information relating to specific a
Engineering Handbook, Section 4, Hydro
(2) Assume site drains to storm system.

(8) For this land use, the remaining pervious

gricultural land uses is available in the National Engineering
logy, chapter 9, August 1972.

areas are assumed to be lawn in good condition.

Page 17 of 17




VIS LU OF \APIGL, Lasv
1817 SW Huwthorne Terrace
Portland, OR 97201-1735

Until requested otherwise, send all tax statements to: Account: 59661
Gearhart Land & Capital, ] 1.C Map: 8-10-33A TL 202
1817 SW Hawthorne Terrace
Portland, OR 97201-1735 Account: 59662
Map: 8-10-33A TL 203
BARGAIN AND SALE DEED

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that Dolphin Road Investors, LLC, an Oregon Limited
Liability Company, hereinafter called Grantor, for the considcration herein stated, does hercby grant,
buargain, sell and convey unto Gearhart Land and Capital, L.L.C., an Oregon Limited Liability
Company, hereinafter called Grantee and unto Grantee’s heirs, successors and assigns all of the
undersigned's interest, together with the tenements, hereditaments and appurtenants thereunto belonging
or in anywise appertaining, situated in the County of Clatsop, State of Oregon, described as follows to
wit;

Parcels 2 and 3 of Partition Plat No. 2015-006, as recorded in Instrument number 201504274, a
replat of a portion of Lot 8, Rodney Acres, City of Warrenton, Clatsop County, Oregon.

TAX ID # 59661 andf 59662
Streat Addrass: 0 * adjoising o 9218 SE Dolphin Ave,, Warrenton, OR 97146

together with all of Lot 8, Rodney Acres, City of Warrenton, Clatsop County Oregon, excepting
Parcel 1 of Partition Plat No. 2015-006, as recorded in Instrument number 201504274, a replat of a
portion of Lot 8, Rodney Acres, City of Warrenton, Clatsop County, Oregon.

To have and to hold the same and to the said Grantcc and Grantee’s heirs, successor and assigns
forever.

The true and actual consideration paid for this transfer stated in terms of dollars, is: none; this
deed is given to transter the property from an LLC to its member, as a distribution. This deed is
recroded to correct instrument recorded as instrument number 201504778, which incorrectly referred to
Golden State Holdings, LLC, and to further transfer the portion of Lot 8 not included in Partition Plat
No. 2015-006.

In construing this deed and where the context so requires, the singular includes the
plural and all grammatical changes shall be implied to make the provisions hereof apply
equally to trusts, corporations and to individuals.

\1
% WITNESS WHEREOF, the Grantor has execued this instrument this 52 dgy of

G OR ACCEPTING THIS INSTRUMENT, THE PERSON
G FEE TITLE SHOULD INQUIRE ABOUT THE PERSON'S

TRANS;

RIGHTS, IF ANY, UNDER ORS 195.300, 195301 AND 1953057019533 Dolphin Road Investors, LLC

AND SECTIONS 510 :1, CHAFIEK 424, OREGON LA WS 2007, AND.

SECTIONS 2 TO 9 AND 17, CHAPTER 855, OREGON LAWS 2009, THIS i sahili

INSTRUMENT DOES NOTALLOW USE OF THE PropTy pescripep 0 Oregon Limited Liability Company
IN THIS INSTRUMENT IN VIOLATION OF APPLICABLE LAND USE LAWS

AND REGULATIONS. BEFORE SIGNING OR ACCEPTING THIS

INSTRUMENT, THE PERSON ACQUIRING FEE TITLE TO THE PROPERTY

SHOULD CHECK WITH THE APPROPRIATE CITY OR COUNTY

PLANNING DEPAKIMENT TO VERIFY THAT THE UNIT OF LAND BENG By,

TRANSFERRED IS A LAWFULLY ESTABLISHED LOT OR PARCEL, AS PPN
DEFINED [N ORS 92.010 OR 215.010, TO VERIFY THE APPROVED USES Bruce Ritchie, Member

OF THE LOT OR PARCEL, TO DETERMINE ANY LIMITS ON LAWSUITS
AGAINST FARMING OR FOREST PRACTICES, AS DEFINED IN URS
30.930, AND TO INQUITRE ABOUT THE RIGHTS OF NEIGHBORING
PROPERTY OWNERS, IF ANY, UNDER ORS 195.300, 195,301 AND 195305
TO 195.336 AND SECTIONS 5 TO 11, CHAPTER 424, OREGON LAWS 2007,
AND SECTIONS 2°00 9 AND 17, CHAPTER 855, OREGUN LAWS 2005,

STATE OF Oregon ) ss.
County of flocreovapy )

__ This foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me on this \o~day of
ey , 2015, by Bruce Ritchie, Member of Dolphin Road Investors, LLC, an Oregon
Limited Liability Company. A\
aN —




HE

|
|
|

Disclaimer: The information contained in this GIS application is NOT AUTHORITATIVE and has NO WARRANTY OR GUARANTEE assuring the information presented is correct. GIS applications are intended for a visual display of data and do not carry legal authority to determine a boundary

or the lacation of fixed works, including parcels of land. They are intended as a location reference for planning, infrastructure management and general information only. The City of Warrenton assumes no liability for any decisions made or actions taken or not taken by the user of the GIS applica

The City of Warrenton provides this GIS map on an “as is* basis without warranty of any kind, expressed or implied, including but not limited to warranties of merchantability or fitness for a particular purpose, and assumes no liability for any errors, omissions, or inaccuracies in the information pr
Printed 6 / 25 / 2020




L0 L=/l B
NOILVAT TS INOJd S

s ¥ 2 s
v * :
= 7 N — = + ——— -~ = 7=
/ \ = N v O
/ \ = a3 T v a
\ /
\ /
\ /
5 0 Tl 0.5 .0, 0.6 X0, 0.6 X0, 6 X ,9.€]
! IVINLYN -d SY00A WNNIWNTY C]
] ¥3INIA D018 AIDVA-LI1dS /SMOQNIM TANIA Q3HSINITd THEROS
&
o - - - - - - - — - - = - - - = - - - - - - pp—
. £-d FNLONYLS AOOM AINIVLS—]
2
& ® 1 | 1
3 e
=
&
s
o
g 0.5 x.,0./] € 0.5 x.,0.£
2-d VIDSV4 TVLIW Q3HSINIIINd
L-d DNIAIS TVLIW AIHSINIITAd
—
7U
7d
ONIHOO0Y TVLIW QIHSINIIAd
2-d VIDSV4 TVLIW QIHSINIAIAd
J — — _ — = — — — — —

O L=t/ r?
NOILVATTI HOVE &S

avisoL

W0 LL

400T

YOO ININVZZIW

W08

YOOQ'HO 8L X FL JOOA'HO 8L X.TL YOOA'HO 8LXTL JYOOA'HO 8L X .TL YOOA'HO 8LX WL

L-d DNIAIS TVLIW QIHSINIHIY

d
DNIH00Y TY.LIW QIHSINIEII



O L= b

0L X0,

YOOA'HO 8LX TL

NOVATIT 1415

1-d DNIQIS V1IW GIHSINIAIAd

W0.L%.0.8

IVINLYN ¥33IN3IA
D018 QIdV-LNdS

IVANLYN ¥3INIA
%2014 QIDVA-LIdS:

W0.2X,0,5 dd

Td VIOSV4 WVIIW omIm_ZImmm|/

NOILVAT1L 3dIS

L-d ONIQIS TVLIW QIHSINIIAd

for v\
./

YOOQ'H'O 8L X, TL

W0, X0, Ad

awvis oL

«0°,0T

1HDIFH XV3d .0-€€

N\

Td
ONIJO0Y TVLIW Q3HSINIHIAd




PREFINISHED METAL SIDING
U-PANELS

PREFINISHED METAL ROOFING
U-PANELS

PREFINISHED METAL FASCIA

STAINED WOOD ENTRY STRUCTURE

VINYL WINDOW EXTERIOR FINISH

SPLIT-FACED CONCRETE BLOCK

ALUMINUM STOREFRONT ENTRY

ROLLING GARAGE DOORS

COLOR P-1 OLD TOWN GREY

COLOR P-2 REGAL BLUE

COLOR P-2 REGAL BLUE

COLOR P-3 DARK WALNUT

SILVER

CHARCOAL

CLEAR ANODIZED

GREY

S
1
2

Tolovana Architect LLC
Cannon Beach, Oregon 97110

368 Elk Creek Road Ste. 408

PHASE 1 BUILDING

2l RYAN OSBURN

MATERIALS
WARRENTON, OREGON

DATE: 202 18

£ A



W01 =.u8/1 \ ET<I

JOOTd NIVW U/

L 4002 @ SAVE "03 (%) .
N \_ W8-91 \_ T
+r—f—-————- - ———-Hf—"
P INT I
| G3WINOD I
— — — — I ”qluun" === I — —_ — — — —
| " g |
[=)}
& [ [l I
_ I I _ |
R ﬂ E—— ¥ ﬂl z
10,6 X 49,€ 0,6 X 40.L 0.5 X0 10,5 X 40, WO AOENIA. ™ WO X0 0.5 X0, 40,5 X 40,4 Thosx.0.2 0.5 X 19,€
— AYIDVYNYW % YIDVYNYW — —_
3= ERIEE(Q)  Ag801 EREE(9) = e
N N N
) 40-.0C h b
- | C & |
me | | mm A
N s
© b |z o1
. - — | I
G v | affoa w &
2 < SRI0 i S
- — — zm“__ol | o e
STOO0L / SLavd s I SO TS
TAVLS ' //__ TUIVIS H] ]
i dn _ _ dn
©
~ —
= ER]EETe] ERFETe] - b
dan dn
: =
— ™~
——— ok
3
ERIFETe) 2
! SN¥Ngso 2 o
2 001 L0-0L C-
@|| |$-WHHHHHIHHHHHIHHHHHHHHHHHHHHH..TII.I.l.L.H.UWll.|l — T = T o = === === M
.0-.0¢C 40-.0C 40-.0C 40-.0¢C 40-.0C

40-0Z @ SAVE "01 (9)

ISNOHIIVM
EOJVYEN

JOOA'HO 8L X, CL

JOOA'H'O 8L X.T

JYOOA'HO .8LX . TL

JOOA'H'O 8L X FL

JOOA'HO BLX ¥+

407,001

%

40702 @ SAvVE "O7 (9)

k
%




P:\20000 Osburn Plumbing Site Development\ACAD\C20000-001.dwg _ Plotted: By ame, 05/22/20 12:10:22 pm

AP\ VICINITY MAP
\/ NO SCALE

ENERAL NOTES

G

ATTENTION CONTRACTORS: OREGON LAW REQUIRES YOU TO FOLLOW RULES ADOPTED BY THE OREGON UTILITY NOTIFICATION CENTER.
THOSE RULES ARE SET FORTH IN OAR 952-001-0010 THROUGH OAR 952-001-0090. YOU MAY OBTAIN COPIES OF THE RULES BY CALLING
THE CENTER. (NOTE: THE TELEPHONE NUMBER FOR THE OREGON UTILITY NOTIFICATION CENTER IS (503) 232-1897 OR 1-800-332-2344), AT
LEAST TWO (2) BUSINESS DAYS PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTIFY THE OREGON UTILITY NOTIFICATION
CENTER OF THE DATE AND LOCATION OF THE PROPOSED CONSTRUCTION, AND THE TYPE OF WORK TO BE PERFORMED.

ALLEEXISTING FACILITIES TO BE MAINTAINED IN-PLACE BY THE CONTRACTOR UNLESS OTHERWISE SHOWN OR DIRECTED. CONTRACTOR
TO LEAVE EXISTING FACILITIES IN AN EQUAL OR BETTER THAN ORIGINAL CONDITION AND TO THE SATISFACTION OF THE ENGINEER AND
JURISDICTION HAVING AUTHORITY (JHA).

[N ACCORDANCE WITH O.R.S.209.140, IF THE CONTRACTOR FINDS IT NECESSARY TO INTERFERE WITH OR PAVE OVER ANY ESTABLISHED
PUBLIC LAND SURVEY CORNER OR ITS ACCESSORIES, WITHIN THE PROJECT LIMITS, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTIFY THE COUNTY
SURVEYOR PRIOR TO DOING SO.

IN ACCORDANCE WITH O.R.S.209.150, CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR REPLACING ALL SURVEY MONUMENTS DISTURBED OR
DESTROYED DURING CONSTRUCTION, REPLACING THE SURVEY MONUMENTS SHALL BE DONE BY A REGISTERED LAND SURVEYOR AT
THE EXPENSE OF THE CONTRACTOR.

EXISTING UTILITY LOCATIONS SHOWN (PLAN & PROFILE) ARE APPROXIMATE ONLY, NO PREDESIGN POTHOLING WAS DONE TO ESTABLISH
THESE LOCATIONS. CONTACT UTILITY COMPANIES FOR PREMARKING. CONTRACTOR TO POTHOLE EXISTING UTILITIES AT CONNECTION &
CROSSING LOCATIONS TO VERIFY DEPTH, LOCATION & TYPE OF UTILITY PRIOR TO ORDERING CONNECTION MATERIALS OR COMMENCING
UTILITY IMPROVEMENTS. NOTIFY ENGINEER IMMEDIATELY IF EXISTING CONDITIONS VARY FROM THAT SHOWN. NOTIFY ENGINEER 24
HOURS PRIOR TO POTHOLING.

CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY ALL CONDITIONS ON THE JOB SITE INCLUDING ALL DIMENSIONS, GRADES, ELEVATIONS, EXTENT AND
COMPATIBILITY TO THE EXISTING SITE CONDITIONS, AND WITH THE WORK DESCRIBED ON THE CONTRACT DRAWINGS. ANY
DISCREPANCIES OR UNEXPLAINED CONDITIONS THAT AFFECT OR CHANGE THE WORK DESCRIBED IN THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS SHALL
BE BROUGHT TO THE ENGINEER'S ATTENTION IMMEDIATELY. CONTRACTOR SHALL NOT PROCEED WITH ANY OF THE WORK IN THE AREA
OF DISCREPANCIES UNTIL ALL SUCH DISCREPANCIES ARE RESOLVED. IF THE CONTRACTOR CHOOSES TO DO SO, THENIT IS
UNDERSTOOD THAT HE SHALL BE PROCEEDING AT HIS OWN RISK AND INCUR ALL COST, IF ANY, TO RESOLVE THE ISSUE TO THE
SATISFACTION OF THE ENGINEER.

ALL WORK IN A PUBLIC RIGHT-OF-WAY OR EASEMENTS PROPOSED TO BENEFIT A JURISDICTION SHALL CONFORM TO STANDARDS OF THE.
JHA. TECHNICAL SPECIFICATIONS FOR PUBLIC IMPROVEMENT CONSTRUCTION ARE TO FOLLOW THE MOST CURRENT EDITION OF THE IBC,
UPC, AWWA, OREGON STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION (ODOT/APWA). JHA STANDARD AND SPECIAL PROVISIONS SHALL
BE REFERENCED WHERE CONTRACT SPECIFICATIONS DO NOT ADDRESS A SPECIFIC ITEM. SEE SPECIFICATIONS FOR CONSTRUCTION
METHODS AND OTHER NOTES PERTINENT TO THIS PROJECT.

UPON COMPLETION OF CONSTRUCTION OF THE PROJECT, CONTRACTOR TO SUBMIT RECORD DRAWINGS TO THE ENGINEER. THE
PROJECT SHALL NOT BE CONSIDERED COMPLETE UNTIL RECORD DRAWINGS ARE ACCEPTED.

CONTRACTOR MAY ENCOUNTER HIGH GROUND-WATER TABLE AT SITE LOCATION. CONTRACTOR SHALL ANTICIPATE AND COORDINATE
ANY AND ALL DEWATERING TECHNIQUES NECESSARY ANDIOR REQUIRED TO COMPLETE PROJECT AS SPECIFIED IN THE TECHNICAL
SPECIFICATIONS. CONTRACTOR SHALL BEAR ALL COSTS PERTAINING TO DEWATERING EFFORTS.

CONTRACTOR SHALL RESTORE ALL SURFACES TO MATCH EXISTING AND ADJACENT GRADES.

ALL DESIGN ELEVATIONS SHOWN SHALL BE CONSIDERED TO BE FINISH SURFACE ELEVATIONS UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED. ALL
SURFACES SHALL BE GRADED SMOOTH AND FREE OF IRREGULARITIES THAT COULD ACCUMULATE SURFACE WATER.

THE CONTRACTOR SHALL COORDINATE A SUFFICIENT NUMBER OF COMPACTION TESTS PERFORMED TO MEET SPECIFICATION
REQUIREMENTS AT THE DEVELOPER'S EXPENSE. SHOULD COMPACTION REQUIREMENTS NOT BE MET, CONTRACTOR SHALL RECOMPACT
AND PAY ALL ADDITIONAL TESTING COSTS RELATED TO THE RECOMPACTION.

CONTRACTOR SHALL ERECT AND MAINTAIN BARRICADES, WARNING SIGNS, TRAFFIC CONES PER ODOT/MUTCD REQUIREMENTS. ACCESS
TO EXISTING DRIVEWAYS AND BUSINESSES TO BE MAINTAINED AT ALL TIMES. CONTRACTOR SHALL REPLACE ALL SIGNS REMOVED
DURING CONSTRUCTION. JHA TO APPROVE INSTALLATION.

THE CONTRACTOR SHALL DEVELOP AND SUBMIT A TRAFFIC CONTROL PLAN FOR REVIEW AND APPROVAL BY THE JHA AND ODOT (IF
APPLICABLE). THE TRAFFIC CONTROL PLAN SHALL DETAIL KEY INTERSECTIONS WITHIN THE PROJECT ZONE. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL
FURNISH AND PLACE TRAFFIC CONTROL BARRICADES AND SIGNS ACCORDING TO THE MUTCD AND ODOT SPECIFICATIONS. THE
CONTRACTOR SHALL USE CONES, DELINEATORS, DETOUR SIGNS AND BARRICADES TO KEEP VEHICULAR AND PEDESTRIAN TRAFFIC OUT
OF THE IMMEDIATE CONSTRUCTION ZONE OF THE CONTRACTOR. ALL SIGNS AND BARRICADES MUST BE APPROVED BY THE JHA, ODOT,
AND THE ENGINEER PRIOR TO ORDERING.

lUTILITY PROVIDERS

CITY OF WARRENTON
ATTN: COLLIN STELZIG
PUBLIC WORKS DIRECTOR
45SW2NDST.
WARRENTON, OR 97146
(503) 861-0917

(503) 861-9661 (FAX)

WATER AND SANITARY SEWER
CITY OF WARRENTON

ATTN: COLLIN STELZIG

PUBLIC WORKS DIRECTOR
45SW2NDST.

WARRENTON, OR 97146

(503) 861-0917

(503) 861-9661 (FAX)

ELECTRICITY

PACIFIC POWER

ATTN.: MARILYN BROCKEY
2340 SE DOLPHIN
WARRENTON, OR 97146
503-861-6005

503.861-6020 (FAX)

CABLE TELEVISION
CHARTER COMMUNICATIONS
ATTN.: RICH MCCANN

413 GATEWAY

ASTORIA, OR 97103
503-735-5887

503-235-7421 (FAX)

NORTHWEST NATURAL GAS
ATTN.: RICH GIRARD

220 2ND AVENUE
PORTLAND, OR 97209
503-226-4211 EXT. 2980
503-281-6169 (CELL)

TELEPHONE
CENTURYLINK

ATTN.: MIKE MEISNER
481 INDUSTRY
ASTORIA, OR 97103
503-242-7676
503-242-8449 (FAX)

ONE CALL CENTER
1-800-332-2344 OR 811

[REFERENCE DATUM

PK NAIL NUMBERED 205 LOCATED IN THE ASPHALT ACROSS FROM THE
ENTRANCE TO THE SITE. ELEVATION = 35,83, ELEVATION IS NGVD 1929
TO MATCH EXISTING DOLPHIN AVENUE PLANS BY RANKIN ENGINEERING.

PROJECT

LOCATION

PN
N%

.
<
=
i
o
-l
O
&)

N\

N

P e e |
o0

i

PROJECT MAP

NOSCALE

|PROJECT TEAM

CIVIL ENGINEER

A.M. ENGINEERING, LLC
ADAM DAILEY, P.E.

P.0. BOX 973

SEASIDE, OR 97138
503-468-8600

SURVEYOR

CKI Land surveying

Scott Cooter

P.O. Box 2699

Gearhart, OR 97138
.738-4320

SHEET INDEX

] COVER
cz2 PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN
c3 VEHICLE TRACKING

ca PRELIMINARY GRADING
/AND LANDSCAPE PLAN

ARCHITECT

Tolovana Architects, LLC
David Vonada

368 Elk Creek Rd. #408
Cannon Beach, OR 97110
david@tolovanaarchitects.com

SITE DESIGN REVIEW - NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

RENEMAL DATE: DECEMBER 31, 2021

g

P.O. BOX 973 SEASIDE, OREGON 97138
Phone: 5034688600 WWW.AMENGNR.COM

A.M.
ineerin

WARRENTON, CLATSOP COUNTY, OREGON

SITE DEVELOPMENT

COVER

OSBURN PLUMBING

S33, T8N, 10W WM

|No.A\[DATE| BY [REVISION COMMENTS

INTIAL ISSUE___|

DESIGN: DRAWN:
MSD

CHECKED: DATE:

ADD 5/20/20

C1

COPYRIGHT 2020 ©




P:\20000 Osburn Plumbing Site Development\ACAD\C20000-001.dwg _Plotted: By ame, 05/22/20 12:10:24 pm

GAS ——
S

GAS ——

—_—f — = ——— ! N Y . ZONING: Gt
(. PREA 4 25151 W o o __ — __
- T TN 30 ORI . O, | N—
| \ / .

\\ ZONING: C1

sy I

0

GAS
GAS
$s

e Y

RENEWAL DATE: DECEMBER 31, 2021

PHASE Il

e N

% /v EXISTING RN AN
50.0°SETBACK / VEGETATION O \\
/ TO REMAIN o [
/ \ AN
/ / SIDEWALK AND
CURB AND GUTTER i
Y D%l'mgg PAYMENT IN LIEU
; OPTION

37,846 SO FT

L7.T J—
GAS

,/ PHASE Il

’ > 74038 SQFT

w
P.O. BOX 973 SEASIDE, OREGON 97138
Phone: 503468.8600 WWW.AMENGNRCOM

A.M.
neering

G
e T

W
GAS —— GAS

\_ 2 SPACE COVERED

BICYCLE PARKING

N
190

& >
/ >
S|
PHASE PLAN / AN PROPOSED reruse
£ \ - 10,000 S F. BUILDING
SCAE T / \ 45 vp)
SCALE: 1" =100 ’ \\ URB AND r
/ o« \ WALKWAY EXISTING l T
= VEGETATION
PROPOSED - /
STORM MANHOLE Ty e 2 TO REMAIN |
WITHINLET (TYP) I
; L SANITARY
PROPOSED SERVICE EROPOSED EXISTING
HYDRANT WITH HlU".U"“(G‘ PUMP STATION i i H
BOLLARDS / WITH EASEMENT i b
CROSSWALK A : WATER 2 SPACE COVERED
/ D . LANDSCAPE 202410 z SERVICE BICYCLE PARKING g !
“ALLEY" A T CURBAGUTTER |
TURNAROUND AREA s SANITARY
/ WITH EASEMENT ; PROPOSED SERVICE
- WATER EXTENSION
WITH EASEMENT

LANDSCAPE BUFFER
W e W

—%7.21" "~
.

SE DOLPHIN AVE
(ASPHALT)

e d "ALLEY"
SERVICE ; 5 . \ > 7 APR?N
2CURES X < N 2 MOUNTABLE
GUTTER ¢ ’ " CURBAND GUTTER
EXIY AT GARBAGE ACCESS
[ HYDRANT, EXISTING
STORM DRAINAGE EXISTING

7O BE RELOCATED WATER
EASEMENTS TO 5

2SPACE COVERED  BEREVISED _WATER ~ ~

N
BICYCLE PARKING A E] \_CONNECTION o — @ om0
10,000 ;’:%EEEDING E \ ACCESS i
EASMENT :
,{ 8 | 22 ! I
® g I 2 195 | z
i | ) P @ O
/ £ | -
/ 3 g L 0
% o = i g
> 3
£ = 8 8 g ; _ 9
\ =\ : -
\_ 2 SPACE COVERED gﬁ:fgmg | o Z E
BICYCLE PARKING surrer /g g 4 ! = TH 5
waTeR  FENCE g HE o < — (@]
/ SERVICE D > o F m 2 O
PROPOSED /7 ! | | 2 A= o
/ 10,000 SF. BUILDING ! | pd O j [e)
is |2 Q 3 % g
N ]
SERVICE | 5 o L P__J 2
\_ 2 SPACE COVERED - >n =0
BICYCLE PARKING : =2 pd LLI = Z
PROPOSED a J | I C o O
4,500 SF. i |_ m Q < -
BUILDING ) ‘9 (N ) -4 E
2 <
HA Z|lowsRy
5 o) ST
EXISTING @ | U) t W o E
! / EXISTING k= EE:&%N I O O U) E 8 =
/ / VEGETATION 2 [
K / TO REMAIN 1] © [I
Y .
// / . ZONING: C1 ZONING : C1 | 2 1 8
£ —_—— — - —
- - e e e e e e e e . e S . e o e - = — - = T T 1 |
ZONING : C1 ZONING : C1 | I._
) = PRELIMINARY SITE PLAN Qle
/ i SCALE: 1" =30 S
/ I ONE
/ | o
= |3
3
>
E -24' ACCESS . LITHONIA DSXW, DOWNCAST, LITHONIA DSX0, DOWNCAST, UJ E
L 2 . | LED LIGHT, WALL MOUNT LED LIGHT, 25' TALL m
o R:l o 2 CURBAND é z g‘d’]‘_‘?EARND 6 Z g
B[] : SRR VEHICLE PARKING SPACES (WMC 16.128.030.A) G |3
SrorAL > ‘ 20% == < cuToRBLL pr— \ / ﬁ ?
TOTAL TOTAL BICYCLE BICYCLE z
= i PHASE REQUIRED PROVIDED STANDARD (AS %) VAN ACCESSIBLE REQUIRED PROVIDED H ——NTIAL TSSUE —
. DSXW1 LED | 10 10 5 4(0) 1 2 2 ! - V0
" . . . 560 g 5 5 30 0 30 60 W e B
ADD 5/20/20
/A \"ALLEY' SECTION (2 \LIGHTING (TYP) '" » % . ey : d d STALE NFEET E
\c_z/ NO SCALE @ NO SCALE I () C2

COPYRIGHT 2020 ©




—_— e S S ,?:@&“ PRO;;;?%
_6—66 / \ 7 \8 N ‘ S RGNS\,
4 N 43 - N, ’r},g .74;7095,‘05‘&‘%

2 %
/! Y g A ]
5 16 4373 /\‘ & \ g Hamis% g

/ S N OREGON ¢
Warrenton Fire - v
Overall Lenﬁ"v}v X e LN \ 7
Overall Width X 7 N W 5 08
i Baedheioht f / R N 04 A\‘g'
Track Widih earance X / LS MO

§Fantes

Lock-to-Jock time X N -
Curbto Curb Turing Radius . / Y 1 RENEWAL DATE: DECEWBER 31, 2021
/ N \
/ N N |

/
_,_I'._
AM.
ineering

Eng

P.O. BOX 973 SEASIDE, OREGON 97138
Phone: 503.468.8600 WWW.AMENGNR.COM

/\FIRE TRUCK TRACKING
W SCALE: 1" =50"

5 22 4373
Warrenton Garbage
Qveraltengin
Overall Wid

Overall Body Height
Min Body Ground Clearance

WARRENTON, CLATSOP COUNTY, OREGON

MaxT&cle_mn O E

Max Steering Angle (Virtual) Z LLI
m=
S o
50
118
L2%2
2Lz =
EEEQ
- w =
Mg &
NDET
OoOmi gy

g

;

/T\GARBAGE TRUCK TRACKING . IR\ 5

Qa/ SCALE: 1"=50' i g

|
. N il || || ]]]
INMAL ISSUE |
’ DESIGN: DRAWN:
/o S e N o B o o o j 50 o 50 100 oS | oA |
| AoD___ | 52020 |
SCALE IN FEET

SITE DESIGN REVIEW - NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

C3

P:\20000 Osburn Plumbing Site Development\ACAD\C20000-001.dwg _ Plotted: By ame, 05/22/20 12:10:29 pm

COPYRIGHT 2020 ©




. _“8¢zozmz<;.m; 0098895805 :aUOUY NOOIHO "ALINNOD dOS1VIO ‘NOLNIHHVM [ 2l Lol &
S| seie NOOIHO ‘TaSVIS e46 X08 ‘Od . . 2
i |BunsauIBu M MOL ‘NBL ‘ees #m_mmmm -
g o Ioug NV71d 3dVOSANYT ANV ONIAVHD AHYNINITSHd & M_v. ]
.2 ° ININJOT13AIA LIS _Mmmm . g
: ONIBNNTId NHNGSO . 8
SININNOO NOISINGH | A8 [3Lva [WoN|
NOLLONHLSNOD HOH 1ON - MIIATH NOISIq 31I1S
(LIVHASY)
.................. 5 - JAV NIHdJT0Q 38
e L T o o e Y —= P _— N —— — .
s e A N R . B 8 m
—— 5YO o R ——r > \mﬂﬁ:ﬂﬁhl\mé = svo Svo k SYD * e SV P Svo (|1Lm$w/)” - 5VO W..
SN }. 2 )
——sve svoV—Z m:mm«uw? T S¥9 e 599 —— v !l%{e v \ / )
e RO e SIS N A .
e e g N4
v > P - o 5 \«C:\\»n\x»\‘,ﬁl .
R e aa \.\(..fﬁ;\wv o
1)
| <
! g3
_
A4 |
£ |
.Gmu “
; [
= [
(4
: |
W
£
[
|
I
[
I pzd
3
_ o
| L
o
| <<
| O
n
a
2
| ok
| [m)]
=z
<
(O]
.
| a
oz’ 5
Mmm > R G
g, >
» v_v » R .
<3
=\
=
m|
2
P v 9 Bz o s 2]
S mmm. .
* Fge,
-
[ =
8 v
w
ﬁ —D._n._
b =4
: e
g Rlbeee
SHEERER
i
b Wi oOw
. wa
7 A
uae
Xg2zge
< Wm =
&3
25
o & & K
Al
...... = )
" s
) o f g2
$: 23
. 5|8 & &8
| / : “
I N ~ =
< g
‘ S~ Qo m m ]
% T >1EE g6
| ~ <C 2
/ e LB y
% ~ s 8 3 g e
] gal 8 g8 Iy zE
| ~ o|g £28: EfZZiEg
* N or|g 5288328 8¢E 22z ¢g
_ ™ NERIFERER R R R 1L

wd y€:0}:z} 02/2Z/S0 "2we Ag :paiold  BMP’L00-000020\dvOvWUBWdoeAsQ a)iS buiqLun|d LRGSO 00002\d



